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X | public - Local X | district
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object
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Contributing  Noncontributing

8 1 buildings
2 0 sites

5 0 structures
0 2 objects
15 3 Total

Number of contributing resources previously
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6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
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AGRICULTURE / agricultural field

AGRICULTURE / animal facility

AGRICULTURE / agricultural outbuilding

TRANSPORTATION / road-related
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AGRICULTURE / agricultural field

AGRICULTURE / animal facility

AGRICULTURE / agricultural outbuilding

DOMESTIC / single dwelling
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Architectural Classification
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NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION

Summary Paragraph: The Graves Camp Rural Historic District is located in a remote area of far
northeastern Larimer County between Fort Collins, Colorado and Cheyenne, Wyoming. More specifically, the
Camp is situated five miles west of Interstate 25 just south of the Colorado-Wyoming state line. Almost two
square miles in size and abutting the state line on the north, the district consists of rolling terrain and open
prairie that have served for 140 years as livestock range. A historic stage and wagon road traverses the
landscape from southwest to northeast, and ranch roads run through the district in various directions.
Centered within this expanse is the Graves Camp, a complex of historic ranch buildings dating from the
second decade of the twentieth century. The nominated district has a long history of use as a transportation
corridor and livestock facility for the gathering, sheltering and processing of sheep, along with a smaller
number of cattle.

General Features (photos 1-13; Map 1): Located on the short-grass prairie of northeastern Larimer
County, far from developed features that remind visitors of the twenty-first century, the Graves Camp and its
surrounding grounds are just a small part of the much larger ranching landscape. Rolling open prairie extends
in all directions as far as one can see. Low eroded bluffs run along the Colorado-Wyoming state line to the
north and northwest. Soft ridges rise about one-half mile to the east, blocking the view of what lies beyond.
To the south and southwest, the unobstructed landscape extends for many miles, with the horizon dominated
by the alpine heights in and around Rocky Mountain National Park.

The nominated property’s high point along the Colorado-Wyoming state line sits at about 6,400’ above sea
level. Sloping generally downward toward the southeast, the lowest area is at about 6,200" at its southeast
corner. Located at the center of the property, the Graves Camp sits at about 6,300’ above sea level. Passing
along the east side of the Camp is Graves Creek, a spring-fed drainage that originates among the hills to the
north and runs toward the southeast. The field directly north and northeast of the Camp is bisected by the
creek and is essentially an irrigated meadow. The presence of this natural drainage is likely to have been a
key factor that led to development of the Graves Camp at this particular location.

The largely undisturbed natural setting underscores the district's remote character despite the fact that it is just
five miles from an interstate highway. In other words, the Graves Camp Rural Historic District appears
isolated, is not easy to reach, and is dwarfed by the expansiveness of the surrounding rangeland. Because
the surrounding landscape is so important to the character and historic use of this ranching district, the
nominated property encompasses almost two square miles of ground (1,171.74 acres) with the Graves Camp
at its center. The entire district has been owned by the City of Fort Collins since 2004 and forms just a small
part of a much larger holding of more than twenty-nine square miles known as the Soapstone Prairie Natural
Area.

The Graves Camp itself is a complex of agricultural buildings, along with associated corrals and fenced
pastures. Most of its developed features are historic and date from the early years of the twentieth century.
These form an intact ranching resource that will make an excellent public learning environment in the future.
Although much of the Soapstone Prairie Natural Area has been opened to the public in recent years, the
Graves Camp remains closed to visitation and is used as an operating cattle ranch. The City of Fort Collins
would like to open it to the public under controlled conditions and is in the process of developing plans for
visitation and special programs.

Access to the district is gained by way of two primary routes. The eastern route starts at Interstate 25 north of
the Colorado-Wyoming state line and heads west along a ranch road that passes through several gates. After
several miles in Wyoming, the road turns to the southwest and drops back into Colorado near the Graves
Camp. A more winding route from the southwest begins at the Soapstone Prairie Natural Area’s main entry
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gate north of Waverly, Colorado. From there, the visitor must negotiate a series of gated dirt roads that travel
for miles across the open prairie. Directly south of the Graves Camp, an old two-track road heads due south.

CULTURAL LANDSCAPE FEATURES

Land Use Activities: Prior to the mid-nineteenth century, the arid rolling short-grass prairie landscape that
now forms the northeastern corner of Larimer County and the 18,728-acre Soapstone Prairie Open Space had
been traversed for millennia by nomadic prehistoric and historic native tribes in search of food, supplies and
shelter. Evidence of the earliest human presence there is found five miles due west of the Graves Camp Rural
Historic District at the renowned Lindenmeier Archaeological Site, designated a National Historic Landmark in
1961 (NRIS.66000249; 5LR.13) and listed in the National Register of Historic Places in 1966. Dating back
over 11,000 years, this well-preserved Folsom site is widely recognized as one of the most significant
archaeological finds associated with prehistoric humans in North America.

Various Native American tribes are known to have visited the Soapstone area during the past few centuries,
and starting around the late 1700s it became part of the Northern Arapaho homeland. However, the nomadic
Arapaho were permanently pushed north into Wyoming in the late 1860s by the United States government.
Evidence of aboriginal presence on the land has been located among the rolling hills and open prairie around
the Graves Camp Rural Historic District. These finds are documented through site forms and reports archived
with the Colorado Office of Archaeoclogy and Historic Preservation, and include camp sites, stone circles, and
artifacts such as stone and bone tools, scrapers, and projectile points. Only about 25 percent of the
Soapstone area has been surveyed to date, leaving much archaeological investigation to be done, including
within the nominated Graves Camp property.

Limited archaeological investigation was completed on the Graves Camp property a decade ago, focusing
upon the low ridge that rises to the east-northeast of the camp complex. Atop the ridge, archaeologists found
a small lithic scatter along with ten low stone mounds. Although the lithic scatter provides evidence of a
possible aboriginal hunting location, it is unclear if the stone mounds were associated with hunting or served
as nineteenth-century trail/road markers. Due to this lack of clarity, aboriginal archaeology is not included in
this nomination as an area of significance, but may be revisited in the future as additional investigation is
completed.

Starting around the 1830s, Euro-American and French-Canadian trappers began using a north-south trail that
ran through the nominated property. Whether it had already been established as a Native American frail by
that time is no longer known. The Trappers Trail provided travelers with a dedicated route between the
northern Rocky Mountains of present-day Colorado and trading forts located along the Laramie River in what
would become southeastern Wyoming. Trappers and traders continued to use the trail through the 1850s, by
which time the mountains had become largely depleted of fur-bearing animals and the eastern market they
supplied had begun to change. A number of the men who survived the ordeals of frontier life took on Native
American wives, had children, and built log cabins along the Cache la Poudre River just east of where it exited the
mountains in a small settlement they called Laporte.

During the 1850s and 1860s, the trail segment passing through the nominated property became part of the Fort
Laramie Road. This road spanned the 100-mile distance between Laporte and the nearby military post of Fort
Collins, Colorado (established 1864) along the Cache la Poudre River, with Fort Laramie, Wyoming (established
1849) along the Laramie River to the north. Soldiers and migrants used the road regularly, and in 1862 the
Overland Stage Line established regular coach service along the route. Five years later, the City of Cheyenne,
Wyoming, was established by the Union Pacific Railroad sixteen miles northeast of the Graves Camp Rural
Historic District. During the early 1870s, the City of Fort Collins, Colorado emerged about twenty-seven miles to
the south after the fort there was closed and the land released for settlement.
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Travel along the road increased over the following decade, as it became the primary wagon and stage route
between the growing communities of Fort Collins and Cheyenne. After purchasing the Overland Stage Line in
1866, Wells Fargo incorporated the route into its Denver and Cheyenne Stage Road, with stagecoaches passing
through the nominated property daily. Although the road seems to have continued to be used through the 1890s,
traffic decreased when the Colorado Central Railroad built its line in 1877 between Fort Collins and Cheyenne,
entirely bypassing the Graves Camp property.

In 1877, the nominated property was first settled by the Graves family, which operated a sheep ranch there over
the following decade. This was sold to the Warren Live Stock Company of Cheyenne in 1887, and the firm
incorporated it into its massive sheep ranching operation that extended across several hundred thousand acres in
northern Colorado and southern Wyoming. Around 1915, the company demolished the ranch buildings that had
been erected there by the Graves and built the sheep camp that remains within the district today. All of the known
historic buildings dating from a century ago remain standing in the ranch complex, and these are described below.
Nothing remains of the original Graves Ranch, and exactly where its buildings stood is unclear although they are
believed to have been located close to Graves Creek at the location of the current ranch complex.

The Warren Live Stock Company continued to operate the Graves Camp into the early 1960s and used the facility
as its primary lambing location in northern Colorado. Throughout the entire period from the 1870s to the 1960s,
the land was used for grazing thousands of sheep. Herds were moved about the landscape by sheepherders and
then brought into the ranch complex for protection from harsh weather and for spring lambing. Since the 1960s,
when the property was sold to a new group of owners, it has continued to be utilized as a cattle ranch. For several
decades, the Soapstone Grazing Association ran cattle on the land and used the ranch complex and its corrals.

Since 2004, the property has been owned by the City of Fort Collins as part of the larger Soapstone Prairie Natural
Area. Under municipal ownership, hiking and biking trails have been established and the land is leased to the
Folsom Grazing Association, which still runs cattle there. Today the historic buildings remain in place although
they are not as intensively used as in past decades. While minor repairs have been made, they retain virtually all
of their historic features and materials. The ranching landscape is also intact and occupied by small herds of cattle
and a few horses, along with pronghorn, coyotes, rattlesnakes, and other wildlife.

Boundary Demarcations: The boundaries of the nominated Graves Camp Rural Historic District run along
established survey lines and encompass an area of 1,171.74 acres. This includes all of Section 21 in
Colorado lying south of the Wyoming state line and all of Section 28 to the south in Township 12 North, Range
68 West. The Colorado-Wyoming state line forms the property’s northern boundary. To the east, west and
south, the boundaries run along the section lines. A non-historic barbed wire fence exists at the northern
boundary. Because the nominated property is part of much larger property, the east, south, and west
boundaries are not fenced. The boundaries were chosen to include all of the features within an area that
encompassed the building complex and center of activities of the sheep-ranching operations of the modernized
Graves Camp that the Warren Live Stock Company established circa 1915, which includes a segment of the
Trapper's Trail (also known as the Fort Laramie Road and the Denver and Cheyenne Stage Road).

Topography: The topography of the nominated property influenced its history of development and use, and
played a role in its patterns of spatial organization. The nineteenth-century trail and road that traverses the
property was established on an alignment that ran between northern Colorado and southern Wyoming. This
passes through a gap in the low hills and ridges fo the northeast. While other routes could have been created,
this one took travelers past a natural spring-fed drainage that came to be known as Graves Creek. Emerging
from the low hills along the state line to the north, the creek ran throughout the year and provided migrants and
their animals with a much-needed source of clean drinking water. This continues to provide the ranch with
water for livestock today. The elevation varies through the district and is the lowest in the southeastern portion
at about 6210°. It gradually rises to about 6310’ at the building complex, and then continues to rise toward the
northern portion of the district with an elevation of 6400'.
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Although the open prairie would have been attractive for ranching, land was abundant and available in all
directions. The primary feature that seems to have drawn the Graves family to this location, when they
established their ranch there in the 1870s, was the flowing stream. Secondarily, it was located along the main
road between Fort Collins and Cheyenne. The creek provided the family with water for domestic use and was
available to their herds, an important factor in an arid environment with scant precipitation, few streams and no
natural lakes. In addition, the drainage watered the fields to the north for grazing. More than any single
natural feature on the nominated property, the creek probably had more to do with its historic settlement and
use. The road provided easy access to the closest communities in the area.

The only other significant features related to the district's topography are the low rocky hills and ridges that
dominate the landscape to the north and east, along with the open rolling prairie in all directions. Ranch roads
and fence lines cross the land in a few locations, and are the only man-made characteristics aside from the
buildings associated with the Graves Camp. All of these features are dwarfed by the expansive landscape.
Today the Graves Camp Rural Historic District's terrain conveys an excellent degree of integrity and it has
changed little since the nineteenth century. No current threats to its features and setting are known to exist.

Vegetation: Most of the acreage within the nominated district consists of the same shortgrass prairie that
makes up as much as 70 percent of the Soapstone Prairie Natural Area. This is characterized by grama grass
and buffalo grass, and is largely devoid of trees. Prickly pear cactus is also present on the property. The
prairie does not appear to have ever been broken for the planting of crops. Graves Creek supports a limited
prairie wetland/riparian system along its drainage that includes grasses and flowering plants that require a
regular source of water. Included among the vegetation there are sedges, along with the possible presence of
the more rare Colorado butterfly plant, Rocky Mountain blazing star, and pale blue-eyed grass. This
ecosystem supports a variety of bird species that frequent the wetland near the Graves Camp.

Circulation Network: Circulation networks include the spaces and features constituting systems of
movement for transporting people, goods, and raw materials through a nominated property. Already discussed
above is the combined Trappers Trail / Fort Laramie Road / Denver and Cheyenne Stage Road that traversed
the property throughout much of the nineteenth century. Ranch roads were also established through the
property during the 1910s by the Warren Live Stock Company to connect the Graves Camp with rangeland to the
west and company facilities to the east. These included the 7X-L Ranch five miles to the east, which served as the
firm's southern headquarters, and the Meadow Springs Ranch seven miles to the southeast, where sheep
shearing took place. These ranch roads are still visible today, and the graded road to the 7X-L (now the Terry
Bison Ranch) has served as the primary road through the property for a century.

Patterns of Spatial Organization: Much of the spatial organization of the Graves Camp Rural Historic
District is directly associated with the location and utilization of Graves Creek and the nineteenth-century
trail/road that ran through the property. While most of the acreage is occupied by undeveloped open prairie
and rolling terrain, the Graves Camp complex is centrally located along the east-west line that divides Sections
21 and 28. As discussed above, the creek seems to have been the main draw to development of the property,
both in terms of transportation and agriculture, and the location of the developed camp appears to have been
related to these factors more than anything else.

Since it was first developed in the 1870s as a sheep ranch, the Graves Camp has been situated next to the
creek and alongside the trail/road, where it would have had direct access to water and transportation. The
surviving buildings there, all of them constructed during or shortly after the mid-1910s, were purposefully
oriented toward the east and south. This orientation took advantage of the winter sun and sheltered the camp
from the prevailing northwestern winds and intense storms in a harsh climate and open landscape where they
and their occupants were subject to being battered.
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Access to the camp complex is from the east, where the graded ranch road enters the district. Many of the
buildings were clustered for easy access on foot, yet with ample space between them for maneuvering horses,
vehicles and machinery. Those that were directly occupied and used by the ranch hands and sheepherders
were placed in the northeast area of the camp, close to the main entry and Graves Creek. These included the
Bunk House, Cook House, and Chicken Coop, all related to living and eating activities. Behind them to the
west were the Small Horse Barn, where a few horses and tack could be kept nearby, along with the Shop and
Outhouse. The southern area of the camp was occupied by animal facilities, including the Large Horse Barn,
the massive Lambing Barn, and the corrals.

North of the Graves Camp complex, the large fields watered by Graves Creek were divided into fenced
pastures, each of them containing a single livestock barn. The barns and pastures periodically held thousands
of sheep, which were herded there for shelter and to be fed. If the ground was clear, they were allowed to
graze on the grass. Otherwise they had to be fed by the ranch hands. The distance of these outlying barns
and pastures from the central camp would have kept the dust and odors away from the central camp, yet they
remained within reach by horseback and motorized vehicles.

CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES - BUILDINGS

Bunk House, circa 1915 (photos 14-17): This small building, now used only for storage, is located in the
northeastern area of the Graves Camp, on the south side of the drive just inside the main entry gate. Facing
toward the east-northeast, the one-story wood frame building rests upon a concrete foundation and has a
rectangular 16’ x 20’-4" footprint. The exterior walls are constructed with wood planks that are entirely clad in
horizontal corrugated metal siding panels which extend up into the gable end walls. At the building’s four
corners, the panels are carefully bent to form clean vertical lines. All of the nails securing the panels to the
underlying boards have large diameter heads with raised centers.

The roof is side-gabled and covered with corrugated metal panels. Running along the ridgeline is a metal cap
comprised of narrow panels that have been crimped along the edges. This crimping allows the ridgeline
panels to overlap and fit into the adjacent corrugated metal panels that cover the roof. Once painted red, the
metal roof retains this faded color today. Boxed eaves of natural wood are present along the front and back of
the building. On the gabled side walls, the eaves are open with exposed purlins, fascia boards and roof
decking. A stubbed metal flue pipe that once served a potbelly stove rises from the roof's west slope.

The only entrance is centered on the eastern fagade. This contains a historic wood panel door that once had a
light in its upper half, although this is now boarded closed. Set into a wood frame with a weathered threshold,
the door retains its metal hardware. On the ground outside are four shortened railroad ties laid parallel to one
another to form a small stoop. Two historic four-light awning windows that open to the interior flank the
entrance. These have wood frames and surrounds, along with metal latches and hinges. Mounted on the
upper eastern wall at the northeast corner of the building is a painted wood sign with faded lettering that spells
out “WARREN LIVE STOCK CO. / GRAVES CAMP.” This sign appears to have been painted white with black
lettering, surrounded by a painted black frame band.

The north side and rear (west) walls of the building are completely blank except for corrugated metal siding. A
pair of historic four-light awning windows that open to the interior is present on the south side. Although
boarded closed from the inside and missing several lights, the wood frames and surrounds are intact. The five
lights that do remain in place are rippled, a sign of their age. Above these windows is an old ceramic insulator
mounted to the fascia board on the gable. This was likely associated with a historic telephone line that once
ran to the Graves Camp.
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On the interior, the Bunk House has a concrete floor and the walls and ceiling are finished with grey-colored
fiberboard panels that are nailed to the underlying wood framework. These appear to date from the middle
decades of the twentieth century. Some of the ceiling panels have pulled away and exposed the roof
trusswork above, where a few pieces of dimensional lumber are stamped “MADE IN U.S.A. / FORCIA-
LARSEN.” George Forcia founded the Star Lumber Company in Battle Ground, Washington in 1907. In 1920,
he and partner Thorval “Victor” Larsen opened another logging and milling operation in Noti, Oregon west of
Eugene. The Forcia-Larsen Company operated through the mid-1950s.” At the Graves Camp, the presence
of lumber with this stamp suggests that the Bunk House roof was replaced sometime between the 1920s and
1950s. No plumbing or electricity are found in the building, and the historic location of a heating stove can be
seen directly below the flue pipe projecting above the roof. The only other historic features are two old wood
tables, along with benches and shelving.

Alterations — Other than the roof replacement and installation of fiberboard paneling described above, which
might have taken place at the same time, there is no evidence of significant alterations to this building.

Cook House, circa 1915 (photos 18-22): This small building, now out of use, is located in the northeast
area of the Graves Camp, north of the drive and just inside the main entry gate. Facing toward the south-
southeast, the one-story wood frame building has a rectangular 12’-4” x 22’-5” footprint. Small fieldstones are
piled and scattered around the perimeter of the building, particularly on the north, east and west. It is unclear
whether these relate to the foundation, which is obscured from view, or were simply collected from the
adjacent field. The exterior walls are constructed with wood planks clad in horizontal corrugated metal siding
panels that were painted red many decades ago. These panels extend up into the gable end walls. At the
building’s four corners, the panel ends are covered with wood corner boards painted white. All of the nails
securing the panels to the underlying boards have large diameter heads with raised centers.

The roof is front-gabled and covered with corrugated metal panels that are also painted red. Running along
the ridgeline is a metal cap comprised of narrow panels that have been crimped along the edges. This
crimping allows the ridgeline panels to overlap and fit into the adjacent corrugated metal panels that cover the
roof. Boxed eaves of painted wood are present along the sides of the building. On the gabled front and rear
walls, the eaves are open with exposed purlins, fascia boards and overhanging roof decking. A stubbed metal
flue pipe that served the cook stove inside the building rises from the roof's west slope.

The building’s south fagade holds its only entrance. This contains a historic wood panel door and a wood
screen door. Together with the surrounding trimwork, these were once painted white. Historic hardware is
present, along with a horseshoe mounted to the frame above. Adjacent to the entrance to the west is a six-
light awning window that opens into the building. This is set into a wood frame and retains most of its glass
lights and a wood clasp on the inside.

The west side is blank except for the corrugated metal wall. The rear (north) holds a historic four-light
casement window that opens to the building interior. This has a wood frame and retains its metal latch and a
wood clasp. On the east side is a six-light awning window that also opens to the interior. This is set in a wood
frame with a wood latch. A clear sheet of Plexiglas (introduced in the early 1930s) mounted to the wall
extends around the entire window on the interior, rendering it inoperable. This seems to have been installed
decades ago, and was presumably placed there to cut down on drafts yet allow light to filter through.

On the interior, the building retains its original wood plank floor, painted horizontal wood plank wainscoting,
and the upper walls and ceiling are finished with fiberboard paneling. A closet with shelves occupies the

! “Funeral Held for Pioneer Lumberman,” (obituary of George Edward Forcia) Eugene Register-Guard, 2 December 1973,

p. 2A; “Month’s Review of Mill and Camp Activities,” The Timberman, November 1921, p. 96E; Helen Burton, “No Tie —
Noti, Oregon,” Lane County Historian, Eugene, OR: Lane County Historical Society, Summer 1989.
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northwest corner and two small sets of built-in shelves are recessed into the west wall. Two simple wood
tables are present, one for food preparation and the other with benches for eating. Simple non-historic electric
lights and wiring have been installed. The southwest corner holds a large cook stove fabricated during the
early 1900s by the Majestic Manufacturing Company of St. Louis, Missouri. This model 847 cabinet stove
featured a 20” oven and six 8” holes for stovetop cooking. It is missing one part, a large nickel-plated
ornamental badge that was bolted to the oven door. This contained the phrase “The Great Majestic” along
with a decorative image of the famed White Star Line ship for which the company was named. The
whereabouts of the badge are unknown. Beneath the stove is a concrete pad, along with a thin metal plate
that covers about 6” of the nearby wood floor to prevent cinders from starting the building on fire.

Adjacent to the building’s southeast corner is a wood telephone pole that dates from around the time the
building was constructed. This freestanding pole rises from the ground to terminate about 2’ above the eave
line. Wood mounts for electrical insulators are attached at the top and about mid-height. A board that rises
from the rear roofline supports another insulator mount. None of the insulators are present at this time. Rather
than being used for electrical lines, these features (along with those found on the nearby Bunk House) are
remnants of the historic telephone line that once ran to the Graves Camp.

Alterations — Other than the installation of interior fiberboard paneling that may date from the mid-1900s,
there is no evidence of significant alterations to this building.

Chicken Coop, circa 1925 (photos 23-24): This small building, now out of use, is located in the eastern
area of the Graves Camp about 10’ south of the Bunk House. Although used as a chicken coop for decades,
the building’s architectural details suggest that it was originally constructed for an undetermined human use
and then later repurposed. Evidence of this is found in its architectural details.

Facing toward the east-northeast, the one-story wood frame building rests upon a foundation that is obscured
from view and has a square 10’ x 10’3” footprint. The exterior walls are constructed with wood planks covered
with tarpaper. These are mostly clad in horizontal corrugated metal siding panels that extend up into the gable
end walls. The panels are bent around the building’s four corners, but not as carefully as on the other
buildings. They are also not as tightly assembled and are minimally attached to the underlying wallboards.
Most of the nails are missing and empty holes predominate. This suggests that the panels were scavenged
from another building and reused here. Additional evidence of this is found on the front of the building, where
some of the panels are missing and others extend in front of the window.

The roof is front-gabled and entirely covered with corrugated metal panels. These extend a few inches beyond
the flush eaves along the front and sides of the building, and are wrapped over the rear roofline. A stubbed
metal flue pipe that once served a heating stove inside the building rises from the roof's north slope near the
northeast corner.

The building’s east fagade holds its only entrance. This contains a historic vertical wood plank door that is
partially covered with tarpaper and set into a wood frame. A hinged plywood hatch covers a small opening in
the door’s lower area that was big enough for chickens to enter and exit the building. Adjacent to the entry to
the north is a three-light awning window with a wood frame. This opened to the interior, although a small
segment of wire fencing has been installed inside and it is not currently operable. Above the entrance, white
metal numbers that read “8100” are attached to the gable wall just below the roof ridgeline. Presumably an
address or building identifier, these suggest that it might have been moved here from another location.
However, the building’s overall appearance supports the assertion that it has been on site for at least fifty
years and is a longstanding part of the agricultural compiex.
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The south side holds a three-light awning window similar to the one on the east. This window is not visible on
the building’s exterior and can only be seen from the inside. This is because it has been covered with boards
and metal siding panels. Except for their corrugated metal siding, the rear (west) and north side are blank.

On the interior, the building has a wood floor that is currently covered with a thick layer of hay. The walls are
covered with grey fiberboard panels dating from the mid-1900s. Some sections of these have been cut away,
probably due to deterioration. The four vertical corner boards have a series of holes drilled into them, but the
purpose of these is not apparent. Visible overhead is the exposed roof framing and decking, painted white,
along with the flue hole at the northeast corner. Directly below the flue, a corrugated metal panel wraps
around the corner along the lower wall to insulate the wood framework from the heating stove that once stood
there. No plumbing or electricity is present in the building.

A fenced enclosure designed to keep chickens in and predators out extends south of the building. The
enclosure is about 8’ tall and covers an area of 13’6’ x 21'. Supported by a framework of slender logs, the
woven wire fencing extends about 1’ above the upper horizontal beam and is buried to an unknown depth
below the ground. This was done to keep animals from jumping over or digging underneath the enclosure.
Entry is gained just outside the main building entrance, through a tall wood gate with a hand-forged metal
latch. A sandstone slab covers the ground just inside the gate and outside of the building entrance.

Alterations — This building has experienced some alterations, all of which appear to have been completed
over fifty years ago. The first of these is that the building seems to have been moved here from an unknown
location and turned into an integral part of the Graves Camp complex. It was not unusual for resourceful
agricultural operations to acquire unwanted buildings and then move and repurpose them as needed. Based
upon the building’s construction details, it appears to have originally been intended for human occupation but
was adapted for use as a chicken coop. At some time, the exterior was clad in corrugated steel siding that
appears to have been scavenged from another building. The south window was covered when that took place
and is now visible only on the interior. Other changes included cutting a hole in the lower area of the door to
install a small entry and construction of the adjacent fenced enclosure.

Small Horse Barn, circa 1915 (photos 25-28): This small building, still in use today, is located west of the
Bunk House and Chicken Coop in the center of the Graves Camp. Facing toward the east-northeast, the one-
story wood building rests upon what may be a concrete slab foundation and has a rectangular footprint of 20'4”
x 40'5". Essentially a pole barn, its exterior walls are framed with dimensional lumber using stickwork
assembly rather than standard balloon framing, clad in horizontal. corrugated metal siding panels. The
building's structure is exposed on the interior, with log posts placed at regular intervals along the outer walls.
Taller log posts run down the center from north to south to support the high roof ridgeline above. Instead of
trusswork, the roof structure consists of a central ridge beam constructed of parallel boards, supported from
below by the log posts. The boards and posts at the ridgeline hold up the roof's rafters and plank decking,
which run down to the exterior walls. The side-gabled roof is finished with corrugated metal panels. On the
front and back are shallow boxed eaves, and the sides are wrapped in metal and flush with the walls below.

The east fagade holds two entries into the building. Toward the north end is a wide wood plank door with
cross bracing and historic hardware that provides access into the northern interior space. The other entry is
located near the building’s southeast corner and accesses the southern space. This holds a wide wood plank
Dutch door, also with cross bracing and historic hardware. The upper surface of the lower door panel is worn
from horses nibbling on it years ago when the building still served as a horse barn. No windows or doors are
found along the building's sides. The rear (west) wall contains two horizontal window spaces in the south
room that are missing their lights and are boarded closed, but retain their wood frames.

On the interior, the building is now divided into two distinct spaces that are separated by a partial wood plank
wall of more recent origin. The northern space has been converted into a tack and storage room with a
concrete floor. The southern space has a dirt floor and is used for general ranch supplies storage.
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Alterations — Other than boarding of the western windows, there is no evidence of significant alterations to the
exterior of this building.

Shop Building, circa 1915 (photos 32-36): Still in use as a ranch shop, this building is located west of the
Small Horse Barn in the west-central area of the Graves Camp. Facing toward the east-northeast, the 15'-tall
one-story wood frame building rests upon a concrete slab foundation and has a rectangular footprint of 30'6” x
50'4". Its exterior walls are finished with vertical corrugated metal panels that are nailed to the underlying
wood framework. Some of these are stenciled on the interior with the name of the building contractor, William
J. Wilseck of Cheyenne, Wyoming.? A circular emblem printed on some of the panels identifies their
manufacturer as the American Sheet and Tin Plate Co. of Pittsburgh, which in the early 1900s became a
subsidiary of the U.S. Steel Corporation. Patented in May 1915, this type of corrugated steel was sold under
the registered trade name Apollo Roofing.> The side-gabled roof has flush eaves and is finished with
corrugated metal sheets. [t is supported by dimensional lumber trusswork that is visible inside the building.

The east fagade holds the only entrance, which consists of an oversized opening that contains a large wood
plank sliding door hung from a metal rail. This is a recent replacement of the criginal painted plank door, which
is attached to the wall just inside the opening. No windows are present along this wall. The corrugated metal
siding north of the entrance is marked with several penciled inscriptions, including the following:

“July 4, 1925 “Snow 3 ft. Deep
R W Scott March 3 — 27”7
Heavy rain and hail”
“Oct 12 1927 “July 5 -1930
90 mile wind Hot as Hell
F.C. Roman™ Pat Devlin
John Parker”
“Sept. 29, 1933 “Wed. 17" - 46
Hot day — no snow or any work!! About throug lamming [sic]
WHD” Warm day no Snow
Lots of B.S.

Jack Perrinson”

These inscriptions speak to the isolated location and character of the Graves Camp, factors that forced the
men who lived and worked there to deal with the harsh environment, distance from community and modern
comforts, and the boredom that sometimes came with the job.

The south side is dominated by a shed addition with a footprint of 11'6” x 30'6". This projects from the
building’s lower wall and is open to the east. The shed is supported by log posts and wood framework, and is
completely clad in horizontal sheets of corrugated metal paneling. Lightly attached to the main building, the
addition appears to be over fifty years old. Above this, the building’s main wall holds a centered louvered
metal vent. The shed’s rear (west) and south side walls are blank except for their corrugated metal paneling.

2 Cheyenne City Directories, Salt Lake City, UT: R. L. Polk & Co., 1911-1926 (Wilseck was active throughout these years,
and possibly beyond, as a Cheyenne-based general building contractor.)
® “United States Steel,” Gale Encyclopedia of U.S. Economic History, 2000 (accessed at www.encyclopedia.com); “Apollo
Best Bloom and Apollo-Keystone Copper Steel Galvanized Sheets,”. Catalogue of the American Sheet and Tin Plate
Company, Pittsburgh, PA, Fourth Edition, 1924.
* US Census Records, Bristol-Miner District, Larimer County, Colorado, 1920 (This was Frank C. Roman, who was born
around 1904 and grew up on a farm several miles south of the Graves Camp owned by his ltalian-American parents.)
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On the interior, the Shop Building has a concrete floor throughout its southern two-thirds, while the northern
third is dirt. The wall and roof framing, along with the roof’s trusswork, are exposed to view. Also visible are
the stamps on the insides of the corrugated metal wall panels, as described above.

Alterations — Three alterations have been made to this building. The earliest involved construction of the
open shed addition to the south, which appears to be over fifty years old. This is subsidiary to the main body
of the shop building and is now a historic alteration that provided storage space, most likely for one or two
vehicles or pieces of ranch equipment. Second, the large original wood plank sliding door was replaced in the
past few years with a new one that is also of wood planks and hangs from the original metal rail. This was
installed to provide the building with a more weatherproof door that operates as did the old one, and is of the
same material. The final addition involved replacement, in the past decade, of the corrugated metal siding on
the building’s rear wall. This rectified the failing siding there, which was replaced with new corrugated metal of
the same profile. The newer siding has weathered and is starting to look like it has been there for some time.

Outhouse, circa 1935 (photos 29-31): This small building, which is no longer in use, is located directly
north of and adjacent to the Small Horse Barn. The concrete slab and riser, along with the angled toilet and
vent behind the seat, all suggest that this is a WPA sanitary privy, a style that was promoted by the federal
Works Progress Administration during the Great Depression.

Facing toward the east-northeast, the wood frame outhouse is one story in height, appears to rest upon a
concrete slab foundation, and has a square footprint of 4'3” x 4’3", Its unpainted exterior walls are constructed
of vertical planks. Horizontal corrugated metal panels wrap around the corners along the lower rear and side
walls. The building has a shed roof that was once covered with wood shingles (these are mostly gone). This
is finished with exposed rafter ends and overhanging decking with fascia boards. A metal ventilation flue pipe
with a conical cap rises from near the southwest corner. The entire building is leaning toward the north.

The east fagade holds the entrance, which contains an unpainted vertical wood plank door with historic metal
hardware and wood bracing on the interior. There are no windows or other features on the remaining walls.
On the interior, the outhouse holds a single toilet that is set on an angle and tucked into the southwest corner.
This has a square concrete base that sits upon the building’s concrete floor. A wood plank seat with a hole in
the middle caps the concrete base. Above this is a hinged wood lid that is currently unattached, along with a
hinged wood clasp that was designed to hold the lid in an upright position. A non-historic plastic toilet seat is
also present. Rising from the back of the toilet is a metal ventilation pipe that extends through the ceiling. The
interior walls are painted white and wood bracing has been installed around the base.

The inside of the east wall adjacent to the door contains several old inscriptions written in pen and pencil. A
few of these are mathematical calculations, one with the name John is barely legible, and one is a simple
cartoon-like drawing of a sheep. The others are as follows:

“1964 “Oct 10/ 51 “John Nogotinez”
BENNY Paul Hasuse

RE, 4 Durango, Colo.”

CHadron”

Alterations — There do not appear to have been any substantial alterations made to this building, although it
might have been moved from its original location within the ranch complex. A shallow depression a few feet to
the north could mark its original site.

Large Horse Barn, circa 1915 (photos 37-41): This building is located directly east of the Lambing Barn
and remains in periodic use today, although to shelter cattle rather than horses. Facing toward the south-
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southeast, the one-story wood building seems to have no foundation and has an overall footprint measuring
202" x 107°2". Constructed in two phases, it consists of an approximately 20’ x 60° segment on the west and a
20’ x 47’ segment on the east. Open to one another on the interior, the point where these segments meet is
evident along the south wall. It is currently unclear which segment was constructed first. However, they are
both weathered and well over fifty years old.

Although essentially a pole barn, the building’s exterior walls are framed with dimensional lumber. Similar to
the nearby Small Horse Barn, the walls are assembled of stickwork rather than standard balloon framing.
These are clad on the exterior with horizontal corrugated metal siding panels that were painted red many
decades ago. Around the perimeter, the lowest panels are not painted and probably replaced earlier panels
that were deteriorating. These are now weathered and appear to have been installed decades ago.

The building’s structural system is exposed on the interior. Short log posts support the outer walls at periodic
intervals. Running along the center of the building from east to west is a single row of tall posts that support
the roof ridgeline. In the western segment, these posts are heavy stripped logs. Those in the eastern segment
are slender lodgepole pine utility poles coated in creosote and stamped with symbols indicating that they were
manufactured in 1951. Instead of trusswork, the roof structure consists of a central ridge beam constructed of
parallel boards, supported from below by the tall posts. The boards and posts at the ridgeline hold up the
roof’s rafters and plank decking, which run down to the exterior walls.

The side-gabled roof is finished with corrugated metal panels. Shallow boxed eaves are present on the front
and back. The east side has fascia boards that are partially covered with bent roofing panels, and the west
side is flush with the wall below and completely covered with roofing panels. The coloration of the corrugated
metal roofing is different between the two building segments. Over the east segment, the panels were
evidently painted red and are now faded or rust-colored. To the west, they are unpainted and relatively clean
although aged. A metal ventilator is present on the central ridgeline.

The building’s south facade holds ten door openings, all of them retaining their original wood frames. One of
these spaces is boarded closed. Eight contain historic wood plank Dutch doors, with upper portions that are
hinged along the tops and are essentially interior-swinging awnings (the upper portion of the easternmost door
has been fixed in place and now swings with the lower portion). These upper awnings are held open by simple
wood latches that are mounted inside the building and hang from the rafters above. One final door space
retains its upper awning but the lower portion has been replaced with a metal gate. Also present along this
wall are ten window openings, all with their original wood frames. These hold fixed three-light horizontal
windows, six of which continue to have at least some glass intact.

The east and west sides have no door or window openings. On the east, a small area in the middle of the
metal wall has been punched open and a metal ring secured to the exposed framework. This appears o have
been placed there to secure a rope or reins. The rear (north) wall contains ten window openings, all with their
original wood frames. These hold fixed three-light horizontal windows. Eight are now closed with wood or
corrugated metal (they can be viewed from inside the building). Of the remaining two that are exposed, one
retains its glass and the other does not.

On the interior, the building is divided into two primary spaces, each with a different use. The longer western
room is open and holds nine horse stalls (this consists of the western building segment and part of the eastern
segment). The floor in the eastern portion of this room is covered with short 9°x9” and 12"x12” timbers. West
of these, the floor is dirt. Wood planks cover the lower walls, most likely to keep kicking animals from punching
through the light stickwork framing and corrugated metal siding. Wood gates separate some of the stalls from
one another, while posts and rails divide others. Feeding troughs constructed of wood run along the north
wall, and wood stanchions are present in one of the stalls. Located toward the middle of the space is an
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enclosed room with wood plank walls and a low gate. This appears to have been installed to house foals or
calves.

The smaller eastern room is enclosed and separated from the western room by a full wall constructed of
horizontal wood planks. It is accessed from two points. The first of these is through an exterior door at the
building’s southeast corner. The other entry is centered in the interior wall between the east and west rooms
and contains a wood plank Dutch door. This room has a dirt floor and the lower walls are finished with vertical
wood planks. Above these, the upper walls are clad in fiberboard and old carpeting (circa 1970) that may have
been salvaged from the ranch house. This appears to have been an attempt to weatherproof or insulate the
room from the cold. The room is divided into two spaces by an interior partial wall. The room may have once
been used to store tack and/or feed, or to house sick horses or foaling mares.

Two adjoining horse paddocks run along the south side of the building. These are about 30’ x 50’ in size and
are attached to the building on the north. The fencing around these enclosures is lighter than the nearby
sheep pens, but still consists of log posts and rails. Metal ranch gates are present along the southern and
western edges of the paddocks, along with a small pedestrian gate to the northeast.

Alterations — The building was constructed in two phases. However, these both seem to be around the same
. age and exhibit many architectural details such as doors and windows that are undifferentiated. The primary
differences are the two distinct roofing colors and the different sizes in structural posts (the slender creosoted
posts may have been installed in the 1950s to replace earlier log posts). Otherwise, the building seems to
have experienced little in the way of alterations.

Lambing Barn, circa 1915 (photos 42-56): The Lambing Barn is located in the southern area of the
Graves Camp and remains in periodic use today. However it now shelters cattle rather than sheep. Facing
toward the south and east, the tall one-story wood building has no foundation. Its L-shaped plan is formed by
two large gabled wings with a diagonal central connector. The north wing (which runs on an east-west axis)
has a footprint of 30’ x 140’, and the west wing (running north-south) measures 404" x 140'. The diagonal
section where these meet has an outer wall length of 56°. While the building’s front walls, facing to the east
and south, are a relatively standard one-story height, the rear walls to the north and west are much shorter.
This design allowed the massive Lambing Barn to hunker down into the landscape and better withstand the
driving winds and precipitation from the northwest that are characteristic of the high open prairie.

The building’s structure is entirely exposed to view on the interior. Essentially a pole barn, its exterior walls are
lightly framed with dimensional lumber. These have been modestly strengthened with short log posts placed
at regular intervals. On the outside, the walls are clad in horizontal corrugated metal siding panels that were
painted red many decades ago. Instead of trusswork, three lines of tall log posts run down the center of the
building to support the high roof above. One of these runs down the ridgeline and the other two are located at
the midpoints along the slopes. The tops of the logs are connected to dimensional lumber beams that are
twinned along the ridgeline, as in the other pole barns within the district. Together, the posts and beams hold
up the roof’s rafters and plank decking, consisting of very wide boards, which run down to the exterior walls.
The entire gabled roof is finished on the exterior with corrugated metal panels. The gable end walls have flush
eaves. Along the rest of the building, the eaves are shallow and boxed. Three large metal ventilators are
located along the ridgeline, one on the north wing, one on the west wing, and the third over the diagonal
connector. A small flue projects from the roof near the north wing’s northeast corner.

The north wing features the following additional characteristics -- The wing’s eastern end holds the primary
entrance into this area of the building. A wood-plank sliding door that is painted red and hung from a metal rail
is located in the large opening, together with a simple modern wood gate. Outside of this entry to the north
and south are two small wood frame shed additions that are entirely clad in corrugated metal. The north
addition measures 7' x 8 and is open to the south. It contains a short wood feeding trough. Above this, the
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main wall of the building has a window opening that has been boarded closed. The southern addition is 8’ x
8'6” and is open to the north. It appears to have been used to shelter newborn lambs and contains two small
pens constructed of wood planks. The addition’s south wall also contains a boarded window.

The wing’s south wall holds a number of door and window openings. Five large door openings, big enough for
animals to access the building, are present. Two of these are open on the bottom and contain wood plank
awning uppers that swing to the interior and are held up by metal hooks suspended from the rafters. The three
remaining openings contain large swinging doors that are constructed of repurposed stadium bleacher seating
and finished on the exteriors with corrugated metal panels. All of the entries open to a series of small livestock
pens that run along the south side of the wing. Also present along this wall are eight window spaces, all with
wood frames. Six of these are open, one is boarded closed, and the final one contains its original three-light
fixed window.

The north wing’s north wall is short in height and holds no entries. It is primarily characterized by corrugated
metal cladding. From the interior, it can be seen that a series of small horizontal window spaces run along the
wall. All of these retain their wood frames, but are closed with corrugated metal. To the west, the north wing is
open to the central connector that extends into the west wing.

On the interior, the north wing has a dirt floor and is divided into several spaces. A small, enclosed storage
room occupies its northeast corner. The door there features a hand-carved wood handle, and three primitive
wood racks for hanging tools or other items are mounted to the adjacent wall. Black tarpaper was installed to
cover the outside of the room’s door and wood frame walls. Scrawled on the tarpaper are several chalk
inscriptions and drawings that were placed there decades ago by at least one ranch hand. These include a
cartoon drawing of the character Popeye with a cigarette dangling from his mouth. Another drawing depicts a
horse with an elegant face and unusually long ears. The wall next to the horse contains the question and
answer, “What Cooking Good Looking — Lamb.” The door is marked by the phrase “Everybody Welcome
Here.” Adjacent to the door is what seems to be a boarded window. Scribbled with pencil on the lower painted
window frame are mathematical calculations. Above the window, the tarpaper is inscribed with the name “Tex
Finley,” along with the date “4/30/53” and “A Bay.”

Just inside the eastern entry are two animal pens that are enclosed by fencing and gates constructed of
repurposed stadium bleacher seating and corrugated metal panels. The northern one of these pens, located
just west of the enclosed room described above, is insulated along its north wall with tarpaper. A hole in the
roof above marks the location of a flue pipe that presumably served a heater, possible a potbelly stove. This
suggests that the pen was once used for birthing, or for young or sick animals, any of which might have
required warmth during the colder months.

The rest of the north wing interior is divided into three spaces, separated from one another by partial wood
plank and corrugated metal walls that have been nailed to the roof poles. The eastern and central spaces are
larger and housed animals. The third space, located adjacent to the central building connector, has shallow
trenches (about 16” deep) excavated into the dirt floor in front of the south wall's two western doors. The
previous use of these trenches is currently unclear.

The central connector features the following additional characteristics. This area is entered from either the
north or west wings of the building and is entirely open to them as a continuous room. Its outer wall along the
northwest has no doors but does contain two window openings. These retain their original wood frames but
are closed with the exterior corrugated metal cladding. The interior of the central connector has a dirt floor and
the lines of log posts that support the roof are the only features that break up the open space. Overhead, the
roof's complex structure at this intersection of two large gabled wings is exposed to view.

15



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

GRAVES CAMP RURAL HISTORIC DISTRICT LARIMER, COLORADO
Name of Property County and State

The west wing features the following additional characteristics -- The wing’s southern end holds the primary
entrance into this area of the building. This large opening contains a wood swinging door that is clad on the
exterior with corrugated metal panels. Above this, the high gable end wall holds a pair of small windows that
originally had four lights in each but are now open (one retains remnants of the framework). The wing's east
wall has a series of doors and windows. Four large door openings are present, all designed to provide
livestock with access to the building. Their upper halves could be left open or closed, with enough space for
sheep to move through the lower openings. These doors retain their wood plank upper awnings that swing to
the interior and are held up by metal hooks hung from the rafters. Seven windows are present, all of which are
open but retain their wood frames. The west wing's short but long west-facing wall also holds seven window
openings. Although these retain their wood frames and are visible from the exterior, they are all closed with
sheets of corrugated metal. The interior has a dirt floor and consists of an expansive open space that is
broken only by the lines of log posts that support the high roof above. The building’s framing is exposed
throughout this area.

Alterations — The Lambing Barn appears to be largely intact from its period of construction about a century
ago. Changes to the building since then appear to have been very limited. Many of the north and west
windows were closed with corrugated metal siding. This appears to have taken place many decades ago,
probably to insulate the building from winds and snow. Two small shed additions were also constructed off the
east end of the north wing. These appear to be many decades old and seem to have been installed to
temporarily house and feed young animals. During the late 1980s, former ranch manager Jim McCartney with
the Soapstone Grazing Association acquired lengths of stadium bleacher seating from an unknown source.’
These were hauled to the Graves Camp and used to construct framework for the interior livestock pens and
gates in the north wing, along with three of the south wall doors that have been described above. Finally, the
large door on the south end of the west wing was recently rebuilt with new wood framework that was clad on
the exterior with old corrugated siding.

CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES - STRUCTURES

Domestic Well, circa 1915-1920 (no photo):

Off the southeast corner of the Cook House, a short concrete sidewalk extends several feet to the east, where
it terminates at a small concrete pad. Mounted atop the pad is an operable hand pump that draws water from
a well below. This model 716 McDonald hand pump was produced in Dubuque, lowa by the A. Y. McDonald
Manufacturing Company, which fabricated pumps from the 1870s well into the 1900s. More than fifty years
old, this one likely dates from the early decades of the twentieth century. It seems {o have been painted green,
a common color (along with red) that was used for water pumps of the era.® A small covered opening in the
concrete pad provides access to an electric pump that sends water to the house.’

Livestock Pens, circa 1915 (photos 57-60): The sheep pens are clustered around the Lambing Barn,
specifically to the east and south of the building. Most of these are sheltered in the courtyard, or inner angle,
formed by the building’s two large wings. Several small pens run along the south wall of the north wing,
keeping animals housed there close to the building. Across an aisle to the south are three long pens that run
parallel to one another on a north-south axis. These are each about 25" wide and just over 100" in length. An
additional corral area is found to the east of the north wing, north of the Large Horse Barn.

® Email exchange between Ron Sladek and rancher Willie Altenburg, owner of the Altenburg. Super Baldy Ranch and
longtime member of the Soapstone Grazing Association, 25 August 2015,

® “The Story of A.Y. McDonald Mfg. Co.,” Accessed on 25 July 2015 at www.aymcdonald.com.

" This well provides water only to this building and the current owner owns all of the water rights. Per CFR 36 60, only
real property is included in the nomination, not water rights.
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The field just west of the Lambing Barn serves as a livestock corral that measures about 130" x 130°. To the
south of the building is a smaller rectangular pen of about 50’ x 75’. Located adjacent to the road, this holds a
wood loading chute at its southeast corner that faces toward the southeast. Additional fencing and a holding
structure within this pen assist ranch hands as they work with the animals. All of the pens were constructed
with heavy timber posts, many of them repurposed railroad ties. These support either five or six slender
horizontal log rails that are attached between each set of posts.

Alterations — Livestock pens have been present in association with the Lambing Barn since it was constructed
in the early twentieth century. Over the decades, various wood posts and rails have been replaced with similar
materials as they have deteriorated. The original swinging wood gates of varying lengths were replaced with
metal ones several decades ago. In addition, short lengths of bleacher seating were added in several
locations around the late 1980s, particularly at the loading chute and in the corral east of the north wing. All of
these changes are typical of ranching sites, where built features are exposed to the elements and require
periodic maintenance and replacement, most often accomplished in a utilitarian way and with whatever
materials could be easily and cheaply obtained.

Trappers Trail / Fort Laramie Road / Denver and Cheyenne Stage Road (segment), ca. 1830s-
1890s (5LR.14076.1) (photos 80-82, 84) (Maps 1, 2, and 4): This 1/%-mile-long segment of an important
frontier and pioneer-era transportation route runs through the nominated district from southwest to northeast.
The combined trail and road were once part of a longer nineteenth-century transportation system that ran
between Laporte/Fort Collins along the Cache la Poudre River in present-day Colorado and Cheyenne/Fort
Laramie in what would become Wyoming. The Trappers Trail dates back as early as the 1830s. Starting in
the 1860s, it intersected with the Overland Trail north of Laporte. South of the Cache la Poudre River, the road
continued as far as Denver. Between Laporte/Fort Collins and Cheyenne, the route was approximately forty
miles long. Sixty miles north of Cheyenne, the road reached its northern terminus at Fort Laramie, and thus
became also known as the Fort Laramie Road. Stage lines also used the road in the late 1860s and became
commonly referred to as the Denver and Cheyenne Stage Road.

For at least five miles southwest of the nominated property, the two-track road is visible as it runs through
historic rangeland passing Round Butte (a landform four miles southwest) and Jack Springs Camp (a historic
sheep camp two miles southwest). The road enters the Graves Camp Rural Historic District at the south-
central edge of Section 28 and then heads due north for one mile to the Graves Camp. Although abandoned
as a primary transportation route over a century ago, the road’s southern length within the nominated property
has continued to be used by ranch workers. Today it also forms part of a bicycle and hiking route established
by the City of Fort Collins known as the Plover Trail. Due to periodic use, its alignment south of the Graves
Camp remains clearly visible as a narrow, unimproved two-track road that is just wide enough to accommodate
a single vehicle.

At a point about 275 yards south of the Lambing Barn, the nineteenth-century road intersects with the graded
ranch road that now provides the primary east-west access through the district. From that point to the
northeast, the two roads are combined for a short distance as they extend toward the Graves Camp. Along the
east edge of the camp, the stage/wagon road diverges from the ranch road and crosses Graves Creek. From
that area to the northeast, the route appears as faint braided two-track traces. While these can be seen in
aerial images, they are difficult to spot on the ground. This northern length of the road runs for just under one-
half mile across the southeast quarter of Section 21, heading toward the low point below the northern base of
the low ridge that rises east of the Graves Camp. After passing the ridge, the road exits the nominated
property at a north-south fence line. Continuing to the northeast beyond the nominated boundaries towards
Cheyenne, at least one segment of the stage/wagon road remains visible as it approaches the state line.
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Ranch Roads, ca. 1915-1920 (maps 1, 2, 4 and 5): In addition to the historic stage/wagon road
discussed above, two early twentieth-century ranch roads run through the nominated property. These both
appear to date from the period around 1915-1920, when the Warren Live Stock Company was constructing
and improving its sheep camps and introducing the use of motorized vehicles. The alignments of these roads
provide strong evidence that they were developed to connect the Graves Camp with other livestock facilities
that were owned and operated by the company.

Graves Camp Road / Soapstone Ranch Road, ca. 1915 (photos 1-4, 81): The graded road
known today as Soapstone Ranch Road serves as the primary route both to and through the Graves
Camp Rural Historic District, running for about 1% miles from east to west within the nominated
boundaries. Along most of its length, the segment sits at the same grade as the surrounding prairie
rather than on a raised bed and is only about 8-9" wide, enough to accommodate one vehicle at a
time. Its eastern starting point is found along the frontage road east of Interstate 25 at the entrance to
the Terry Bison Ranch on the Colorado-Wyoming state line. From there it heads west for about four
miles through an open expanse of ranch land in southern Wyoming. Along the way, the road passes
through locked gates and over cattle guards as it makes its way toward the Graves Camp.

At about the four mile mark, the road turns to the southwest and drops into Colorado northeast of the
nominated property. After another mile, it enters the district along the east-central edge of Section 21
and then curves to the south-southwest as it travels about three-quarters of a mile to reach the Graves
Camp. Just east of the camp, the road turns to the west and immediately crosses over Graves Creek.
The camp’s entry gate and buildings are located about 150’ straight ahead. Taking another turn to the
south before it reaches the gate, the road continues about 400 yards to the point where it meets the
southern length of the nineteenth-century, two-track stage/wagon road described above. From that
divergence point, the graded ranch road curves to the west and northwest, and runs over one-half mile
before exiting the property near the southwest corner of Section 21.

After exiting the nominated property, the road passes through additional locked gates as it extends
about eight miles to the west and southwest across the open rangeland of the Soapstone Prairie
Natural Area. Along the way it passes the Bear homestead, the ruins of a former sheep camp, and the
Lindenmeier Archaeological Site (more about this below). It also connects with other ranch roads that
run across the rolling prairie in this remote area of northern Colorado and southern Wyoming.
Eventually, the road reaches Soapstone’s public entry gate north of Waverly, Colorado.

Exactly when this road was first developed is difficult to substantiate through primary or even
secondary sources, with the answer to this question hampered by the passage of many decades, the
lack of persons with memories of the property from long ago, and the fact that few detailed records or
maps provide information on ranch roads in this area.! At the same time, one important fact has been
established, that the road historically connected two important sheep camps to one another. At its
eastern terminus, it runs directly into the main gate at the Terry Bison Ranch. Historically known as
the 7X-L Ranch, this facility served as the Warren Live Stock Company’s southern headquarters,
where operations were overseen for its northern Colorado camps and rangeland. To the west, the
road runs directly into the entry gate at the Graves Camp.

Both of these facilities were constructed and improved starting around 1915 and the direct route
between them was most likely to have been developed over the following several years. In large part,

® No records providing direct evidence of the construction of this road have been located to date, although such materials
may exist in the voluminous collection of the Warren Live Stock Company. While corporate records and historic maps
were reviewed and provided useful information about the nominated property and the company’s regional operations,
these tended to focus upon parcel ownership, fence lines and land uses, offering little about ranch roads. No historic
aerial photographs were found, probably because the rural site was remote and not used for irrigated agriculture.
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this was because the existing nineteenth-century stage/wagon road that ran between the Graves
Camp and Cheyenne did not pass close to the 7X-L Ranch. The Warren Live Stock Company also
introduced the use of motorized ranch vehicles during this same period, underscoring the need for a
direct road connection to be constructed.

This new route is likely to have been known as the Graves Camp Road when it was owned and used
by the company because from a management perspective it ran from the 7X-L fo the Graves Camp.
The name Soapstone Ranch Road appears to have been applied in more recent decades, and does
not predate the mid-1960s when the Soapstone Grazing Association first became involved with the
property. According to the 1967 USGS Round Butte topographic quadrangle map, the eastern length
of the road between the 7X-L and the Graves Camp was unpaved, but graded around that time. From
the Graves Camp to the west, it appeared as an unimproved two-track road that was later graded by
the grazing association. The entire route today remains a dirt road with few improvements.®

Meadow Springs Ranch Road, ca. 1915-1920 (photo 85) - One other twentieth-century road is
present on the nominated property. This narrow two-track ranch road, about 8’ wide, heads southeast
from the point where the old stage/wagon road and the Graves Camp Road meet just south of the
Graves Camp. Also likely to date from around 1915-1920, the route provided access between the
Graves Camp and the Meadow Springs Ranch, the Warren Live Stock Company’s shearing camp
located seven miles to the southeast (the facility stands just east of Interstate 25 on the Larimer
County-Weld County line). .

Within the Graves Camp Rural Historic District, the two-track road is not as evident today because it is
rarely used. However, its alignment remains reasonably visible both on the ground and in aerial
photographs. The road heads southeast through the eastern half of Section 28. About five miles
southeast of the camp, it intersected with a new public road that had been established in the early
1900s to provide easier travel between Fort Collins and Cheyenne. Designated Highway 1 in the
1920s, the public road ran through the countryside north and northeast of Fort Collins following section
lines and a series of county roads until it reached the town of Wellington, Colorado, founded in 1902.
From there it headed north to the Wyoming state line toward Cheyenne.'® Prior to construction of the
interstate highway in the 1960s, the ranch road connected with Highway 1 about 2% miles north of the
Meadow Springs Ranch.

CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES - SITES

Outlying Barns and Pastures, circa 1915-1925 (photos 9 & 11; Maps 1, 2 and 5): The fields directly
north, northwest and west of the Graves Camp are watered by natural springs and drainages, and contain a
lush growth of grass that is ideal for grazing livestock. This area of roughly 160 acres is divided into five
fenced pastures of varying shapes and sizes, each of them bordered by post and wire fencing. Within each
pasture is a livestock barn, as described below.

° Telephone conversation between Ron Sladek and Larry Hoffner, rancher and former president of the Soapstone
Grazing Association, 20 November 2015. Hoffner started ranching in the area of the Graves Camp in 1965 and recalled
that the graded ranch road was already in use along its current alignment by that time. He also stated that it had been
constructed by the Warren Live Stock Company, but did not known exactly when.

"% Highway 1 north of Wellington was abandoned during the 1960s, when Interstate 25 replaced it as the primary route
between northern Colorado and southern Wyoming. While the interstate destroyed most of its length, short remnants of
the old highway can still be seen in a few locations.
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Outlying Barn 1 (Feature 1; photos 61-64) - This small horse barn is located just over 100 yards
northwest of the noncontributing ranch house at the Graves Camp. It is situated close to the center of
the fenced pasture and is currently out of use. Facing toward the east-northeast, the pole barn has a
footprint of 20’-2" x 40’-7”" and no foundation. Its stickwork walls are framed with wood planks, clad on
the exterior with rusted corrugated metal siding. The building’s side-gabled roof is also covered with
corrugated metal panels. Mounted on the roof at the central ridgeline is a metal ventilator that is
missing its cap. Along the front and back of the building, the eaves are shallow and boxed. They are
flush with the walls on the sides and wrapped in corrugated metal that is bent over from the roof.

The east fagade has two large entries into the building. The entrance near the southeast corner
retains its upper wood plank awning that swings to the interior. This is held open by wires hung from
the rafters. The other door is missing the awning, but the wires remain in place. Two small horizontal
window openings with wood frames are found along this wall between the doors.

The building’s north and south sides have no door or window openings. These walls consist solely of
the blank corrugated metal panels (some of the panels on the south wall have been torn open). Along
the rear (west) wall are two window openings. These retain their wood frames, but one window is
open and the other has been boarded closed.

On the interior, the barn’s dirt floor is substantially raised above the outside ground level by a thick
layer of manure. Wood planks line areas of the walls to keep horses from kicking through the
stickwork and exterior corrugated metal siding. A single row of slender creosoted poles, possibly
dating from the 1950s, runs down the middle of the building from north to south. These are tied into
and support the twinned plank beams at the roof’s ridgeline. Shorter poles have been installed along
the east and west walls to provide structural support to the building. The roof structure above is
exposed to view.

A small paddock enclosed by post and rail fencing occupies the grounds east of the building.
Alterations — The barn appears to have experienced no substantial alterations.

Outlying Barn 2 (Feature 2; photos 65-69) - This building is located about 500 yards west of the
house in the southeast corner of a fenced pasture. It was once used to shelter cattie and sheep, but is
currently out of use. Facing toward the south-southeast, the pole barn has a footprint of 40'3” x 100'7”
and no foundation. lIts exterior walls are constructed of wood plank stickwork clad in corrugated metal
siding. The side-gabled roof is covered with corrugated metal, with shallow eaves on the front and
back. A metal ventilator rises from the central ridgeline, secured to the roof with barbed wire.

The south fagade has experienced the removal of sections of framing and siding. This primarily
impacted the western half of the building and was either done to remove damaged materials or so it
could be opened up as a loafing shed. Despite this, the wall retains evidence of the historic presence
of three large livestock doors. Two of these have their frames at least partially intact, and remnants of
the third remain in place so it can be determined where it was located. Parts of the upper awning
doors that swung into the building are also present, including some of the boards and metal hinges.
Along the wall are two window openings with wood frames.

The east and west sides hold no doors or windows, and are characterized only by their corrugated

metal siding. The rear (north) wall contains four window openings with wood frames. Three of these
are open and the fourth is covered over with a sheet of corrugated metal.
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On the interior, the building has a dirt floor and its structural framework is exposed to view. Three
rows of slender poles run the length of the building from east to west. These are tied into and support
the twinned plank beams at the roof's ridgeline and single beams at the midpoints between the
ridgeline and outer walls. Shorter poles have been installed along the interior of all four walls to
provide structural support to the building. The roof structure above is exposed to view. The interior
space is divided into two pens through the installation of a north-south fence of slender horizontal logs
that are attached to the roof poles.

A livestock pen bordered by a combination of barbed wire and post-and-rail fencing occupies the
grounds south of the building. Gates are present at the pen’s southeast and southwest corners.

Alterations — This building has experienced alteration in the form of removal of materials along its
south wall, as described above. Other than that, the building is intact from its period of construction.

Outlying Barn 3 (Feature 3; photos 70-72) - This building is located about 450 yards northwest
of the ranch house near the center of a large fenced pasture. It has short walls and was once used to
shelter sheep but is currently out of use. Facing toward the south-southeast, the barn has a footprint
of 20'3” x 79'8” and no foundation. Its exterior walls are constructed of wood plank stickwork clad in
corrugated metal siding. The side-gabled roof is also covered with corrugated metal, with shallow
eaves formed by overhanging roof panels on the front and back, and flush eaves on the sides. Two
metal ventilators rise from the ridgeline.

The south fagade has two large door openings with wood frames but no doors. Five horizontal window
openings are also present, all with wood frames and no glass. In four of these, the spaces are half
open and half boarded closed. The east and west sides have no doors or windows. The rear (north)
wall has no doors, but does hold three window openings with wood frames. Two of these are closed
with corrugated metal panels, and the third is open but the wall below has been torn open.

On the interior, the building is primarily characterized by its dirt floor and unusually low walls and roof
trusswork. Formed from planks that were cut and assembled on the property, the trusswork
distinguishes the building from the many pole barns within the district. Short creosoted poles have
been placed in the four corners and at intervals along the perimeter walls to provide additional
structural support to the building. These are attached with wires to the original posts in each location.
Rising from the middle of the dirt floor is a single squared timber of unknown function. The area in
front of the building holds a narrow collapsed structure of wood posts and planks whose original use is
unclear (this may have been a loading ramp for sheep).

Alterations — This building seems to have experienced no substantial alterations. The short poles
that were installed along the perimeter walls appear to have been placed there around the 1950s.

Outlying Barn 4 (Feature 4; photos 73-76) - This building is located about 850 yards northwest
of the house in the east-central area of a large fenced pasture. It was previously used to shelter cattle
and sheep, but is now out of use. Facing toward the southeast, the pole barn has a footprint of 40’8" x
80'4” and no foundation. lis exterior walls are constructed of wood plank stickwork clad in corrugated
metal siding. Sections of the walls have been removed on the north and east, probably due to
deterioration and to make the building more open for use as a loafing shed. The side-gabled roof is
also covered with corrugated metal, with shallow boxed eaves on the front and back.

The south facade has three large door openings with wood frames but no doors. Also present along
this wall are five horizontal window openings, all with wood frames and no glass. The west side
contains no doors or windows, and is characterized by its blank corrugated metal wall. The rear
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(north) wall has no doors, although three horizontal window openings are present with wood frames
and no glass. About half of the wall materials, both framing and metal cladding, have been stripped
away. The east side is also missing the lower half of its wall. Some of these materials are lying on the
ground nearby.

On the interior, the building has a dirt floor and its structural framework is exposed to view. Three
rows of log poles run the length of the building from east to west. These are tied into and support the
twinned plank beams at the roof's ridgeline and single beams at the midpoints between the ridgeline
and outer walls. Shorter logs and squared posts are placed at regular intervals along all four walls,
providing additional structural support to the building. The roof structure above is exposed to view.

Alterations — This building seems to be unaltered, except for the stripped away wall materials on the
north and east. While some of these materials have been removed from the district, others are lying
on the ground nearby. Its condition may have been caused by deterioration combined with high winds.

Outlying Barn 5 Ruins (Feature 5; photos 77-79) - This building is located about 675 yards
northwest of the house in the southwest area of a large fenced pasture. It was once used to shelter
sheep, but has collapsed and is no longer in use. What remains there today is the roof structure,
along with many of the wall materials (these are both beneath and next to the building).
Measurements and the surviving architectural details show that the building was very similar to
Outlying Barn 3, with a footprint of 19'-10" x 80’-8” and no foundation. Its short exterior walls were
constructed of wood plank stickwork clad in corrugated metal siding. The side-gabled roof is also
covered with corrugated metal.

Alterations — This building is collapsed and on the ground. lIts largely intact roof is its most visually
dominant feature today. Satellite imagery shows that the barn was already on the ground by the early
1990s (Google Earth, 29 June 1993). Although in seriously deteriorated condition, the building and its
broken remnants provide substantial evidence of its construction details and mark its original location.

Open Range, (photos 2, 3, 7, 9, 12, 13, 73, and 82): Beyond the buildings and other developed features
that occupy and define the Graves Camp complex and its nearby pastures, most of the nominated district is
characterized by an expanse of short-grass prairie that has historically been used as sheep and cattle range.
Graves Creek, a very small number of fence lines, the stage/wagon road, and the two ranch roads discussed
above are the primary features that bisect these lands. Despite the presence of these developed features, the
visual impact of settlement and ranching there over the past 140 years is dwarfed by the setting’s vast scale.
In essence, the open range dominates the district and remains a pristine example of the historic natural
landscape that attracted sheep and cattle ranchers to this location in the 1870s and allowed them to thrive
there for several generations.

NON-CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES - BUILDING

Ranch Manager’s House, 1969 (photo 86):"' This small residence is located in the northern area of the
Graves Camp, on the north side of the road northwest of the Cook House. Facing toward the east-northeast,
the one-story wood frame building rests upon a raised concrete foundation and has a rectangular footprint of
24’ x 34’. The exterior walls are finished with wide white clapboard siding. The low sloped, side-gabled roof is
finished with asphalt singles and boxed eaves.

" Larimer County Assessor Records, Parcel 82280-00-007 (Graves Camp).
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On the east facade is a concrete stoop with metal handrails that rises to the building’s main entrance. This
holds a non-original panel door with a fanlight and a screen door. The raised basement has two two-light
sliding windows. The main floor has two windows: a large picture window flanked by one-over-one double
hung sash windows, and a pair of one-over-one double hung sash windows.

The south side facing the Graves Camp complex holds a secondary entrance that is reached by way of a non-
original wood stoop with a small landing at the top and an open wood rail. This entry contains a non-original
door and screen door. A one-over-one double hung sash window is also present on the building’s main floor.
The rear (west) wall has no entries into the home. On the basement level are three two-light sliding windows.
The main floor contains two one-over-one double hung sash windows, along with a small two-light sliding
window. The north side also contains no entries. The basement has two two-light sliding windows, and two
one-over-one double hung sash windows are located on the main floor.

A fenced yard planted with grass and a few ornamental trees and shrubs surrounds the house. The woven
wire fencing includes gates to the east and south, and a metal clothesline is located in the yard to the north.
These features appear to have been installed around the time the house was constructed in the late 1960s.

NON-CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES - OBJECTS

Pump Jacks, circa 1980s: Two small trailer-mounted Jensen Straight Lift Pump Jacks are located on the
property. One of these is currently stored inside the Lambing Barn and the other sits outside the Shop
Building. However, they are movable and are unlikely to remain in these locations in the future. The Jensen
Brothers Manufacturing Company of Coffeyville, Kansas, began manufacturing these small well pumping units
in 1935. However, it wasn’t until the early 1980s that the name “straight lift pump jack” was trademarked,
confirming that they are not old enough to be contributing elements of the nominated district.’ Because these
pieces of equipment are small, moveable and non-contributing, they are not included in the resource count.

INTEGRITY

Today the Graves Camp Rural Historic District retains the vast majority of its historic characteristics from its
two periods of significance. These include the sheep camp complex, the roads, and the unspoiled ranching
landscape, all of which remain visible and little changed over the past century.

Although minor repairs have been made to the ranch’s early twentieth-century buildings and corrals over the
past fifty years, these were done simply and with like materials. Consequently, the relatively small changes
noted have had little visual impact and do not diminish the district’'s overall character and ability to convey its
significance. As a whole, the Graves Camp effectively tells the story of its long use as an important
transportation corridor and a significant element of a massive corporate livestock ranching empire that
operated for decades in southern Wyoming and northern Colorado. This story is likely to be augmented in the
future through additional research and the completion of an archaeological survey.

The historic buildings and structures at the Graves Camp exhibit a high level of physical integrity with regard to
their location, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, association and design. Both individually and as a
group, they easily take visitors back to the district’s period of development in the early twentieth century. The
stage/wagon road and ranch roads similarly exhibit a very good degree of integrity in terms of their alignment
and construction. The surrounding terrain, including the viewshed beyond the nominated boundaries, remains
largely undisturbed, allowing the historic property to retain its setting on the open prairie and to reflect the
ranching landscape. Because the landscape is relatively unchanged and there has been little above ground

"2 “Jensen Straight Lift Jack,” Trademark Registration #1261467, Accessed online at www.trademarks411.com.
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activity to disturb the site, the likelihood of below-ground features and their archaeological integrity is high.
The only non-historic resource of any size is the 1969 ranch manager’s house, although this small building
does not detract from the district’s overall historic appearance.

The boundaries for the Graves Camp Rural Historic District include a substantial amount of land, recognizing

that the natural landscape and setting on the open prairie were so important to its use as an early
transportation corridor and in relation to the historic livestock grazing that took place there over many decades.
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RESOURCE COUNT

Contributing Non-Contributing
Buildings

Bunk House
Cook House
Chicken Coop
Small Horse Barn
Outhouse

Shop

Large Horse Barn
Lambing Barn
Ranch Manager’s House 1

PV, N NS N WL (N W N

Subtotal 8 1

Structures

Livestock Pens 1
Trappers Trail, Fort Laramie Road, Denver and

Cheyenne Stage Road

Domestic Well

Meadow Springs Ranch Road

1
1
Graves Camp Road/Soapstone Ranch Road 1
1
5

Subtotal

Sites

Open Range 1
Outlying Pastures (containing features of four 1
barns and one barn ruins)

Subtotal 2 0

Objects

N

Pump Jacks

Subtotal 0

N

TOTAL 15 ' 3
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in cne or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property
for National Register listing.)

A Property is associated with events that have made a
X significant contribution to the broad patterns of our
history.

B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high
artistic values, or represents a significant
and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information

important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

A Owned by a religious institution or used for religious
purposes.

B removed from its original location.

C a birthplace or grave.

D acemetery.

E areconstructed building, object, or structure.

F a commemorative property.

G less than 50 years old or achieving significance
within the past 50 years.

Period of Significance (justification): The period of significance for Historic Non-Aboriginal Archaeology
extends from circa 1830, around the time the trail/road is first known to have been used, and continues fo
1963, when the Warren Live Stock Company ended its association with the property.
significance for Transportation also runs from circa 1830 to 1963 in relation to the roads that run through the
district. The period of significance for Agriculture extends from circa 1915 to 1963 in relation to the Graves
Camp and its association with corporate sheep and cattle ranching conducted by the Warren Live Stock

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions.)

AGRICULTURE

ARCHAEOLOGY (historic/non-aboriginal)

TRANSPORTATION

Period of Significance
1830s-1963

1915-1963

Significant Dates
1915

Significant Person
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.)

N/A

Cultural Affiliation
EURO-AMERICAN

Architect/Builder

WARREN LIVE STOCK COMPANY

Company after it renovated the ranch complex and constructed new buildings in 1915.

Criteria Considerations: Not Applicable

The period of
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Summary Paragraph

The Graves Camp Rural Historic District is locally significant under Criterion A in the area of Agriculture for
its association with the prominent Warren Live Stock Company, which operated throughout southern Wyoming
and northern Colorado between the 1880s and 1960s. Despite the fact that this property had been in use as a
ranch since the 1870s, the firm completely rebuilt the Graves Camp around 1915 and its period of significance
runs from that time through the early 1960s instead of starting at an earlier date. The Graves Camp is also
locally significant under Criterion A in the area of Transportation for the presence of a 1.5-mile segment of a
vital nineteenth-century trail and wagon/stage route that connected northern Colorado and southern Wyoming
during their frontier, territorial and early statehood periods from the 1830s through the 1890s. Also important
on the property are two twentieth-century ranch roads that connected the Graves Camp to other corporate
ranching facilities located miles to the east and southeast. Finally, the nominated property is locally significant
under Criterion D in the area of Archaeology: Historic Non-Aboriginal due to the likely presence of
informative archaeological resources along the stage/wagon road and in and around the sheep camp. Further
study of the property’s archaeology is likely to reveal substantial information about its historic use during its
periods of significance.

Narrative Statement of Significance

The Graves Camp Rural Historic District was evaluated in light of the analysis provided in the Colorado Plains
Historic Context (Mehls, 1984) and A Guide to the Evaluation of Wyoming's Ranching, Farming, and
Homesteading Historic Resources (Cassity, 2011). These documents indicate its importance in association
with frontier trappers, traders and the military moving about along an established trail; with freight and
passenger travel along a territorial and early statehood road; and with its use for decades during the twentieth
century as a sheep ranching facility operated by a major livestock company.

Criterion A — Agriculture: The nominated Graves Camp Rural Historic District is significant as an excellent
example of a twentieth-century sheep and cattle ranch that was acquired, developed and operated for decades
by the massive Cheyenne-based Warren Live Stock Company, one of the region’s most renowned and
powerful corporate sheep and cattle ranching empires. The firm used this property, along with the surrounding
high prairie landscape in both northern Colorado and southern Wyoming, as rangeland from the 1880s through
the 1960s. Built by the company, the Graves Camp served as one of its primary lambing centers, a critical
facility for any large sheep ranching operation.

During the 1870s and 1880s, the property was the location of the Graves Ranch, a pioneer-era sheep and
cattle operation that conducted business under the name Graves & Hawley. This was acquired by the rapidly
expanding Warren Live Stock Company in 1887 and used for the next three decades as a sheep camp.
Starting around 1915, the company, under the leadership of Fred Warren, completely redeveloped the property
during a massive modernization program that brought the ranching empire into the new century and
accommodated its corporate needs. Dozens of the firm’s facilities scattered across tens of thousands of acres
in Colorado and Wyoming were either built or rebuilt. The almost forty-year-old Graves Ranch buildings and
structures were demolished and replaced at that time with the various buildings, corrals, and pastures that are
still there today. From that time on, the property was known as the Graves Camp.

No historic buildings or other features from the Graves Ranch period between 1875 and 1915 are known to
have survived within the district, and although their exact locations are presently unknown it is believed they
were on or very near the current buildings’ location, as the proximity to Graves Creek was crucial for
settlement.  For this reason, the property’s integrity as a historic ranching center focuses upon the Graves
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Camp era when the Warren Live Stock Company made renovations to it, beginning in 1915, and continues
until 1963, when the Warren Live Stock Company ended its association with the property. In relation to the
Criterion A area of Agriculture, the Graves Camp Rural Historic District represents a remarkably intact high
plains ranching complex dating from the early twentieth century. The nominated district exhibits an excellent
level of integrity and conveys a strong sense of its history and significance as a center of livestock ranching in
northern Colorado.

Criterion A — Transportation: The nominated Graves Camp Rural Historic District is also significant for its
association with transportation during the nineteenth and twentieth centuries. Throughout the period from the
1830s to the 1890s, the historic Trappers Trail / Fort Laramie Road / Denver and Cheyenne Stage Road
included the approximately 1.5-mile segment that runs on a southwest-northeast axis through the nominated
district. During those years, it was used by trappers, the military, the general public, and by freighting and
stagecoach lines as a vital link between northern Colorado and southern Wyoming. This fostered
communication, movement, and trade across the region and contributed to its eventual settlement and
development by Euro-Americans.

Throughout its early period in the 1830s and 1840s, the Trappers Trail connected the northern Rocky
Mountains in what would later become Colorado with the frontier trading posts of Fort William and Fort John in
the Laramie River country of present-day southeastern Wyoming. Trappers emerged from the foothills each
spring and followed the trail to the forts to sell their winter's harvest of furs and pelts, communicate with their
countrymen, pick up supplies and then head back to the mountains. In the 1850s and 1860s, the trail through
the nominated district became known as the Fort Laramie Road and served as the primary route used by the
American military to connect frontier Fort Laramie with the settlement of Laporte and the army outpost
established in 1864 at Fort Collins, both located along the Cache la Poudre River. In essence, the established
trappers trail became an established road that served a critical need for military movement throughout the
region. This enhanced the federal government’'s presence on the frontier as the country sought to wrest the
land from the Native American tribes who resided there and open it to Euro-American settlement.

From the late 1860s through the 1890s, the road accommodated migrants, travelers, freight haulers and stage
companies as the principal route between Laporte/Fort Collins and Cheyenne. The segment running through
the nominated district completed the Denver and Cheyenne Stage Road and was used for years by Wells,
Fargo & Company and other freight and passenger enterprises. While traffic on the road decreased somewhat
after 1877 when the Colorado Central Railroad completed its line between Fort Collins and Cheyenne, it
appears to have remained in use through the end of the century. The establishment of the town of Wellington
about eighteen miles south of the Graves Camp in 1902 caused the route to shift to a new paved wagon and
auto road that during the 1920s was designated State Highway 1.

In addition to the stage/wagon road, the nominated district holds two segments of ranch roads that are
important to its history of use in the twentieth century. These are described above as the Graves Camp Road
and the Meadow Springs Ranch Road, both of which were most likely developed around 1915-1920 when the
Warren Live Stock Company was engaged in the rebuilding of its sheep camps and the introduction of
motorized vehicles. These activities necessitated the introduction of ranch roads that provided access to
pastures and rangeland, and connected the company's various sheep camps to one another. Most
importantly, the Graves Camp Road, which today provides the primary access to and through the property,
directly connected the Graves Camp to the 7X-L Ranch (now the Terry Bison Ranch). Located five miles to
the east, the 7X-L was the company’s southern headquarters where it managed operations throughout
northern Colorado. This road ran directly into each camp's front gate.

Today the unpaved roads through the nominated property continue to be visible and little improved from their
periods of significance. Together with the surrounding prairie landscape, they convey an excellent sense of
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travel through what remained a remote area of northern Colorado during the nineteenth and twentieth
centuries.

Criterion D — Archaeology (Historic Non-Aboriginal): The nominated property is also significant for its
association with non-aboriginal historic archaeology in relation to the historic transportation routes that
traversed the district starting in the 1830s, pioneer settlement that took place there in the 1870s, and its
reconstruction into a sheep camp around 1915. While much is understood about the property, these elements
of its history raise questions that can only be answered through archaeological investigation.

Although much of the north-south trail/road’s alignment through the district remains visible today,
archaeological investigation may answer important questions about where travelers forded Graves Creek,
along with defining its route northeast of the Graves Camp where it is difficult to see on the ground and
appears braided. In addition, archaeological investigation could more closely answer the question of when it
began to be used as a trail and road. Although not entirely overlooked by historians, more heavily documented
northern Colorado routes such as the Overland Trail and Cherokee Trail have overshadowed this road and its
place in history for many decades. Clearly the stage/wagon road through the Graves Camp played an
important role in regional transportation history and deserves additional investigation. This is expected to yield
important information including the potential for artifact deposits along the trail, what those artifacts may reveal
about historical-period travel, where the trail travelers camped, their diets and demographics (socioeconomic
level and ethnicity), and the daily lives of travelers along the Trappers Trail / Fort Laramie Road / Denver and
Cheyenne Stage Road.

Another area of historic non-aboriginal archaeological interest and significance involves the property’s use as a
sheep ranching center from the 1870s through the 1960s. Unanswered questions raised by this use include
locating where the original Graves Ranch house and outbuildings stood from the 1870s through the 1910s
before they were demolished and replaced with the camp buildings that stand there today. Other sources of
potential information are privy pits and trash middens that are likely present, but buried deposits, on the
property. Although a privy pit from the 1870s and circa 1915 has not been located, one if not more existed. [t
is likely that at least one trash midden existed from the 1870s sheep-ranching era and the 1915 ranching
operation.

Privy pits often contain trash indicative of a wider range of uses of a property than is apparent in historical
records and can add unexpected detail to the historic record. This may include the diet of the ranching family,
diets and demographics of sheep ranchers, hobbies and children’s play things, and ways that the
homesteaders and ranchers interacted with the larger community through commerce or cross-cultural
interaction. They might also reveal information about the daily life/routine and material culture of
homesteaders, settlers, and rural ranchers/ranch hands in northern Colorado, along with providing informative
artifacts due to associative value in connection with important broad historical patterns: of trappers trails,
wagon and stage transportation, sheep ranching, and exploration/settlement.

HISTORIC CONTEXT

Prior to the mid-nineteenth century, the arid short-grass prairie landscape that now forms the northeastern
corner of Larimer County and the Soapstone Prairie Open Space had been traversed for millennia by nomadic
prehistoric and historic native tribes in search of food, supplies and shelter. Evidence of the earliest human
presence there is found at the renowned Lindenmeier Archaeological Site. Named for the pioneer ranch
owner who permitted archaeologists to access the property, the Lindenmeier site is located just south of the
Colorado-Wyoming state line about twenty-seven miles north of Fort Collins and five miles west of the Graves
Camp Rural Historic District.

29



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

GRAVES CAMP RURAL HISTORIC DISTRICT LARIMER, COLORADO
Name of Property County and State

In recent centuries, northeastern Larimer County (along with adjacent Weld County and southern Laramie
County, Wyoming) was visited by a variety of nomadic Plains tribes. Primary among these were the Apache,
Arapaho, Cheyenne, Comanche, Crow, Kiowa, Sioux, Pawnee and Shoshone. The area became part of the
Northern Arapaho homeland by the late 1700s, although it continued to be visited from time to time by the
other tribes. Their presence on the landscape is known today through recorded oral history, the writings of
explorers, migrants and settlers, and through archaeological investigations conducted in recent decades.
During the late 1860s, the United States government relocated the Northern Arapaho to Wyoming, where they
eventually settled on the Wind River Reservation with the Eastern Shoshone. This cleared the way for Euro-
American settlement and the distribution of former native lands through homestead claims and federal grants.™

Transportation Through the Nominated Property: The unassuming two-track road that passes from
southwest to northeast through the nominated Graves Camp property has a long and interesting history.
Exactly when this route began to be used as a trail is no longer known, although it is possible that Native
Americans traveled its length long before Euro-Americans began to visit the region. By the mid-1830s, the
route known as the Trappers Trail provided fur trappers traveling on foot and horseback with an established
path between northern Colorado’s Front Range and the Laramie River region of southeastern Wyoming
(neither of these states was yet in existence)."

In 1834, frontiersman William Sublette established a fur-trading post near the confluence of the North Platte
and Laramie Rivers. At that time, the post was situated far beyond the United States’ westernmost line of
expansion, and it would remain so for several decades. Known as Fort William, the privately owned facility
served for fifteen years as the center of an active trade between Euro-Americans and regional Native American
tribes. Trappers and Native American hunters came to the post to exchange beaver pelts, furs, and buffalo
hides for manufactured goods imported from the east. Among the trappers were men who spent their winters
hunting in the mountains of north-central Colorado. In 1841, the American Fur Company constructed an
adobe-walled trading post named Fort John close to Fort William, which by that time was starting to decline.™

These trading posts were located not only along the east-west Platte River trails, but also at the intersection of
trails heading northeast into the Sioux lands of the Dakotas, northwest through Wyoming to Montana, and
south into Colorado. The U.S. Congress soon recognized that they occupied a strategic place on the frontier.
By the late 1840s, the Mexican War had recently concluded, the Mormons were headed to Utah, and gold had
been discovered in California and Nevada. These developments increased the tide of migrants heading west,
and the trading posts began to serve as important way stations along the Platte River trails.™

Eager to protect Euro-American interests on the frontier, the United States government ordered troops from
Fort Leavenworth in eastern Kansas to head to Forts William and John to establish a federal presence. The
first companies of soldiers arrived in the spring and summer of 1849, just as the California Gold Rush began
and hopeful migrants began heading west across the frontier. Fort John was soon acquired and the army

'3 Thomas J. Noel and Ron D. Sladek, Fort Collins & Larimer County: An lllustrated History, Carlsbad, CA: Heritage
Media Corp., 2002; Soapstone Prairie Natural Area Management Plan, City of Fort Collins Natural Areas Program, 25
September 2007.
¥ Martin H. Schloo, Maps of the Cherokee-Overland Trails, 1988. These maps show the locations of the early trails in
Larimer County and are found in the collection of the Fort Collins Museum of Discovery; Jason Marmor, An Historical and
Archaeological Survey of the Overland/Cherokee Trails Through the Fort Collins Urban Growth Area, Larimer County,
Colorado, Prepared by Retrospect for the City of Fort Collins, 1995; Dr. Brenda Martin, et al, Soapstone Prairie Natural
Area Oral History Project, Fort Collins Museum and the City of Fort Collins Natural Areas Program, March 2009. Some
studies suggest that between the 1830s and 1850s, the Trappers Trail ultimately connected the trading centers of Santa
Fe and Taos, New Mexico with the frontier trading posts of Fort William and Fort John, and the subsequent military post
known as Fort Laramie, in present-day southeastern Wyoming.
' David Lavender, Fort Laramie and the Changing Frontier, Washington, DC: National Park Service, Handbook 118,
1983.
'® | avender, Fort Laramie and the Changing Frontier.
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spent the next several years constructing a military post on the adjacent grounds that would henceforth be
known as Fort Laramie. Throughout the 1850s and 1860s, many of the soldiers and citizens traveling between
Fort Laramie and the Colorado frontier (which became a territory in 1861) followed the established trail that ran
through the Graves Camp Rural Historic District. During this period, the route became known as the Fort
Laramie Road."” No buildings or ranching activities were present there, and the trail simply passed across the
open, undeveloped prairie, where travelers would have occasionally encountered wildlife and other migrants
heading in the opposite direction.

During the early 1860s, as the American Civil War raged in the east, the conflict between Native Americans
and Euro-Americans on the central plains disrupted travel along the Platte River trails and forced the Overland
Trail to be re-routed toward the southwest into Colorado Territory. While some migrants, as well as
stagecoach lines and freighters, continued up the South Platte River into Denver, many turned west at Latham
east of present-day Greeley and followed the Cache la Poudre River upstream to the Larimer County hamlet of
Laporte. By that time, a number of the fur trappers who had survived the dangers inherent in living on the
frontier had built log cabins there and settled down to live out their remaining years. Some of them had Native
American wives and were busy raising children.™

About ten miles north of Laporte, most travelers along the re-routed Overland Trail turned toward the northwest
and made their way through the foothills into southern Wyoming, where they rejoined the route’s original
course to the west. They also had the option of heading north-northeast across the prairie along the Fort
Laramie Road. In 1862, the Overland Stage Line established regular coach service along this route, with the
Park Creek Station marking the location north of Laporte where the Fort Laramie Road diverged from the
Overland Trail.’¥ From Laporte to Fort Laramie, the route was about 100 miles in length, with no established
communities between them.

Not long after gold was discovered and Colorado had become a territory, volunteer troops from Kansas and
Colorado established a small military camp during the summer of 1862 along the Cache la Poudre River at
Laporte. Due to flooding, in August 1864 the commander of Fort Laramie, Lt. Col. William Collins, issued an
order moving the post several miles downstream to a higher location above the river. Collins stationed a
number of his Ohio volunteers at the new fort, which they named in his honor. The men were charged with
protecting the Cache la Poudre region’s small number of settlers along with travel and commerce on the
Overland Trail. They also patrolled southward toward Denver and to the north along the Fort Laramie Road.
In addition to soldiers traveling between the two military posts, many of those who made their way along the
Fort Laramie Road through the nominated district were freighters and migrants heading south to the Colorado
gold camps. Others entered Colorado Territory with the goal of establishing farms and businesses.

In the spring of 1867, the Union Pacific Railroad completed its transcontinental line through southeastern
Wyoming, a short distance north of Colorado Territory, causing the Fort Laramie Road to start a new and
busier phase of its history. The temporary railroad camp established at Crow Creek was initially just another of
the many short-lived sites occupied by a nomadic band of savvy merchants, railroad workers, gamblers,
prostitutes and roughnecks. However, the location received a boost from the Union Pacific’s chief engineer,
General Grenville Dodge, who laid out a four-square-mile townsite for the future City of Cheyenne. Many of

' bid.
'® Noel and Sladek, Fort Collins & Larimer County: An lllustrated History, Marmor, An Historical and Archaeological
Survey of the Overland/Cherokee Trails Through the Fort Collins Urban Growth Area.
' Louis Bruning Erb, Ann Bruning Brown and Gilberta Bruning Hughes, The Bridger Pass Overland Trail, 1862-1869,
Through Colorado and Wyoming, Greeley, CO: Journal Publishing Company, 1989; Richard S. Baker, “Stagecoach
%tations in Northern Colorado,” The Brand Book, Denver, CO: The Westerners, November 1951.

Ibid.
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the camp’s rougher characters followed the railroad and its construction crews as they moved west,
abandoning the site to those interested in building a town.?’

Before long, the railroad camp took on new life as a pioneer community. The army established Fort D. A.
Russell (now F. E. Warren Air Force Base) on the prairie northwest of Cheyenne, providing the town with a
substantial military presence. In July 1868, Wyoming Territory was established with Cheyenne as its capitol.
Four years later, the State of Wyoming was created and.Cheyenne became the permanent seat of
government. The Union Pacific Railroad settled in as a major employer and economic anchor for the
community, erecting a downtown hotel along with nearby shops, a roundhouse, and an extensive rail yard.
Residential neighborhoods were established and the downtown commercial district began to expand.?

In 1867, the army decided to close Fort Collins. Although it took until 1872 for the government to release the
military reservation for. settlement, a town by the same name began to grow along the southern edge of the
fort. This soon became the seat of Larimer County. As Cheyenne and Fort Collins emerged from their infancy
and became regional market and government centers, travel between the communities increased. Between
1867 and 1877, the primary route that connected them was the Fort Laramie Road. However, with Fort
Laramie replaced by Cheyenne as the route’s northern destination, the road began to be referred to in different
terms. For those traveling north from Fort Collins, the route was referred to as the Cheyenne Road. And in
Cheyenne, it was most likely known as the Fort Collins Road. Although the Union Pacific Railroad had been
completed through southern Wyoming, no rail line yet existed to the south into Colorado. Consequently,
freight and stage traffic increased along the road through the nominated district for a number of years.?®

Anticipating construction of the transcontinental railroad through southern Wyoming and the business it would
bring to stage lines serving Colorado’s Front Range communities, in 1866 Wells, Fargo & Company acquired
the Overland Stage Line from owner Ben Holladay. As the Union Pacific Railroad pushed construction through
Wyoming the following year, Wells Fargo launched stagecoach service between Denver and Cheyenne. After
considering a variety of possible routes, the company settled on the existing road established several years
earlier by the Overland Stage Line through Fort Collins and Laporte. Repairs were made where needed and
the company began constructing new bridges over washes and creeks. These provided the freight wagons
and stagecoaches with a solid road base, easy access to wood, water and grass, and connections through
emerging towns. What remained to be done was to establish adequate stations along what became known as
the Denver and Cheyenne Stage Road, where passengers could embark and disembark from the
stagecoaches, fresh horses would be kept waiting, and travelers could obtain food and overnight
accommodations if necessary.?

During the late summer and fall of 1867, Wells Fargo built several swing stations between Laporte and
Cheyenne. Regional home stations were also enlarged to hold more horses. Each of the swing stations
located northeast of the Park Creek Station through northeastern Larimer County consisted of at least a small
cabin and a barn or corral. Just over five miles north of the Park Creek Station, the road forded Box Elder
Creek at what would soon become the Whitcomb Ranch. [t then continued another four miles to the Burnt
Station. From there, the route headed another four miles across Rawhide Flats past Round Butte to the Jack
Springs Station. Two miles to the northeast, the road entered and ran through the nominated Graves Camp

; Sharon Lass Field, ed., History of Cheyenne, Wyoming, Dallas, TX: Curtis Media Corporation, 1989.
Ibid.
% Noel and Sladek, Fort Collins & Larimer County: An lllustrated History, Erb, Brown and Hughes, The Bridger Pass
Overland Trail, 1862-1869, Through Colorado and Wyoming.
% Marmor, An Historical and Archaeological Survey of the Overland/Cherokee Trails Through the Fort Collins Urban
Growth Area, Larimer County, Colorado; Schloo, Maps of the Cherokee-Overland Trails.
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property. The last stage stop before Cheyenne, known as the Spotswood Station, was situated northeast of
the Graves Camp close to the Colorado-Wyoming state line.?

Once the improvements were completed, Wells Fargo began offering daily passenger, freight and mail service
between Denver and Cheyenne. In mid-November 1867, the company’s division agents, Thomas and
Spotswood, announced that the firm was launching regular stage service between the Park Creek Station and
Cheyenne with “a number of coaches and twenty-one teams to stock the road.”® The schedule, at least
initially, would involve alternating between two coaches one day and one coach the next. Adding more
coaches to the route would depend solely upon demand.

The trip between Denver and Cheyenne typically took more than twenty hours in each direction, at least when
weather and road conditions cooperated. However, problems with the horses and coaches, along with
rainstorms and blizzards, sometimes interfered with the company’s best efforts to stay on schedule. Those
segments of the road that were remote and exposed to intense weather could be exceptionally challenging. In
mid-February 1869, the Rocky Mountain News reported that the Union Pacific Railroad was shut down through
southern Wyoming due to deep snows. However, the stagecoaches heading south from Cheyenne were
slowly making their way to Denver. The paper stated that “the storm between Laporte and Cheyenne was
terrific; the severest ever known there. Two drivers with shovels were sent out on each coach, for safety to
passengers and mails.”?’ One month later, the Rocky Mountain News reported that a stagecoach traveling
from Cheyenne to Denver had run into deep snow along its route and was forced to lay over a night at Laporte
before heading farther south. Due to the poor road conditions, it took another sixteen hours to travel from that
point to Denver the following day. According to the newspaper, “the drivers say they never saw the roads in
such terrible condition...the snow is twelve to fifteen inches deep, while the mud is almost beyond estimate.
The coach brought a heavy load of passengers and mail.”?®

Because the Denver-Cheyenne route proved to be so important and lucrative, additional stage and freight lines
emerged to compete with Wells Fargo. Freight haulers that entered the market included the Merchants
Dispatch & Freight Line and the Northern Freighting Company. In October 1868, Mason & Ganow started daily
stage service using four-horse Concord hacks to compete with Wells Fargo, presumably sharing the same
route.? Their entry into the market sparked a bidding war, causing ticket prices to plummet from $12.00 down
to $2.50 before they started to go up again. Mason & Ganow promised to transport passengers, mail and
express packages in twenty-three hours, leaving Denver at 8:00 am and arriving in Cheyenne at 7:00 am the
following morning.*® Stagecoaches operated by both firms left Cheyenne for Denver at 6:00 pm daily.
Between 1868 and mid-1870, the Denver and Cheyenne Stage Road saw substantial commercial passenger
and freight traffic, along with the passing of individuals traveling on their own or in groups. In the fall of 1869,
Wells, Fargo & Company sold all of their Colorado stage lines to John Hughes & Company, which continued to
operate along the Denver and Cheyenne Stage Road for at least another eight months.*’

% bid., p. 56; Schloo, Maps of the Cherokee-Overland Trails; Glenn R. Scott and Carol Rein Shwayder, Historic Trail Map
of the Greeley 1°x 2° Quadrangle, Colorado and Wyoming, US Department of the Interior, US Geological Survey, Map |-
2326, 1993. Spotswood Station, along with Spotswood Creek just north of the Graves Camp property, seem to have
been named for Robert Spotswood (often misspelled Spottlewood), who served as the Overland Stage Line’s division
superintendent at Virginia Dale and had a long and notable career in the Colorado stagecoach business.
*8 “Messrs. Thomas and Spotswood...,” Rocky Mountain News, 14 November 1867, p. 4.
27 “Mr. Jones, of Wells, Fargo & Co.’s office..., Rocky Mountain News, 15 February 1869, p. 4.
28 “The Cheyenne coach due yesterday...,” Rocky Mountain News, 17 March 1869, p. 4.
# “Messrs. Mason & Ganow...," Rocky Mountain News, 17 October 1868, p. 4; Different from the larger, more expensive
Concord coach, a hack was a somewhat smaller, simpler passenger coach with a square body. Typically used by
regional stage lines, they carried six to nine passengers along with luggage.
0 *Express Lines, New Stage Line, Denver to Cheyenne,” Rocky Mountain News, 2 January 1869, p. 2 (advertisement).
¥ Marmor, An Historical and Archaeological Survey of the Overland/Cherokee Trails Through the Fort Collins Urban
Growth Area, Larimer County, Colorado, pp. 57-59.
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Traffic along the Denver and Cheyenne Stage Road declined somewhat after 1870, when the Denver Pacific
Railroad constructed its line between the two cities. The railway bypassed Fort Collins and instead traversed
the countryside miles to the east along a route that took it through Brighton and Greeley. Between Fort Collins
and Cheyenne, freighters and travelers remained dependent upon the existing wagon and stage road. To
accommodate ongoing demand, in 1874 stagecoach operator George S. Cathers launched tri-weekly service
along the road, promising to deliver passengers in eight hours.** The Colorado Central Railroad arrived in Fort
Collins from the south in 1877 and continued northward to Cheyenne, passing through the countryside several
miles south and east of the Graves Camp property.®® Although the wagon and stage road appears to have
been used through the end of the century, the Colorado Central diminished the volume of traffic through
Sections 21 and 28. By 1877, the nominated district was still devoid of permanent settlement, with the solitude
broken by the sound of distant train whistles and the occasional passing of travelers along the old wagon and
stage road.

Around the turn of the twentieth century, the historic road through the Graves property was abandoned in favor
of a graded road that had recently been constructed between Fort Collins and Cheyenne. This new route,
which passed five miles to the east along the same alignment as today’s Interstate 25, seems to have come
about due to the founding in 1903 of the town of Wellington, a more convenient way station for travelers.
Within a few years, the advent and widespread appeal of the Ford Model T and other motorized vehicles
secured the new graded road’s future as the preferred auto route between the cities (in the 1920s this was
designated Colorado Highway 1). As traffic along the old Fort Collins-Cheyenne road decreased and came to
a halt, northeastern Larimer County regained its quiet character and became the locus of-isolated ranching
enterprises. By the mid-1910s, the ranch roads through the nominated property ran in several directions from
the Graves Camp, connecting it to other regional sheep camps. Those heading to the northeast and southeast
also connected the camp with the auto road that ran between Fort Collins and Cheyenne.®

Sheep Ranching and the Settlement of Northeastern Larimer County: The single event that
changed the course of frontier Colorado’s history and development was the discovery of gold in the summer of
1858 in the river bottom soils at the confluence of Cherry Creek and the South Platte River, where Denver is
located today. The following spring and summer, prospectors located rich lodes of gold in the mountains to the
west. The gold rush that followed brought thousands of prospectors and entrepreneurs across the Great
Plains and into Denver. From there, many continued west to the emerging mining camps. Others headed to
diverse points along the Front Range, including Larimer County. Most of these migrants arrived with modest
worldly possessions, together with dreams of a new life. However, for many their livelihood was not to be
found in mining the hard, unforgiving rock of the mountains but in ranching and agriculture on the plains below.

Throughout the 1860s and 1870s, thousands of pioneers traveled up the South Platte River and tributaries such as
the Cache la Poudre in search of land where they could start farms and ranches. Eager to see the frontier settled,
Congress passed the Homestead Act in 1862, allowing any eligible adult to lay claim to 160 acres of government
surveyed land. New laws followed that increased the amount of acreage that could be claimed in the vast
expanses of the arid and semi-arid west. The homesteader could gain legal title to the property after five years if
they built a residence and improved the land through cultivation. A second option entitled claimants to secure
ownership after six months if they established residency, made minor improvements, and paid the government a
set price per acre.

%2 “Cheyenne & Fort Collins Stage Line,” Fort Collins Standard, 12 August 1874, p. 1. Cathers drove stagecoaches
between Greeley and Fort Collins before 1874, and developed routes into the mountains west of Fort Collins. By the
early 1880s, he had moved to Laramie, Wyoming and operated stages that connected that town with North Park,
Colorado.
% |bid., p. 57; Robert Ormes, Tracking Ghost Railroads in Colorado, Colorado Springs, CO: Century One Press, 1975.
3 Harry and Arlene Ahlbrandt, Wellington’s First 100 Years, 1905-2005, Fort Collins, CO: The Ahlbrandts, 2005; Map of
Larimer County, Colorado, Fort Collins City Directory, 1906; Gelder's Map of Larimer County, R. W. Gelder, 1916.
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National Register of Historic Places
Memo to File

Correspondence

The Correspondence consists of communications from (and possibly to) the nominating authority, notes
from the staff of the National Register of Historic Places, and/or other material the National Register of
Historic Places received associated with the property.

Correspondence may also include information from other sources, drafts of the nomination, letters of
support or objection, memorandums, and ephemera which document the efforts to recognize the
property.



UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
EVALUATION/RETURN SHEET

REQUESTED ACTION: RESUBMISSION

PROPERTY Graves Camp Rural Historic District
NAME :

MULTIPLE
NAME :

STATE & COUNTY: COLORADO, Larimer

DATE RECEIVED: 10/29/16 DATE OF PENDING LIST:
DATE OF 16TH DAY: DATE OF 45TH DAY:
DATE OF WEEKLY LIST:

REFERENCE NUMBER: 16000155

DETAILED EVALUATION : // }"/ £
ZZACCEPT RETURN REJECT [2 DATE

ABSTRACT/SUMMARY COMMENTS :

RECOM. /CRITERIA A )-Q"’)

Y Ay o~
REVIEWER e DISCIPLINE :

12/14/16

—=

TELEPHONE DATE__ {2 / i ‘/,/ f\’/

DOCUMENTATION see attached comments Y/N see attached SLR Y/N
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FEB 2.6 2016

NAT. REGISTER Cr i::::10RIC PLACES
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

February 19, 2016

J. Paul Loether, Deputy Keeper and Chief,
National Register and NHL Programs
National Register of Historic Places

1201 Eye St. NW, 8th Fl.

Washington D.C. 20005

Re: National Register Nomination for the Warren Live Stock Company, Graves Camp Rural Historic
Landscape, Wellington vicinity, Larimer County, Colorado (SLR.11649)

Dear Mr. Loether:

We are pleased to submit for your review the enclosed National Register of Historic Places
nomination for the Warren Live Stock Company, Graves Camp, Larimer County, Colorado. In
accordance digital submission policy, enclosed please find:

- CD with a PDF of the nomination for the Warren Live Stock Company, Graves Camp
Note: The enclosed disk contains the true and correct copy of the nomination for
the Warren Live Stock Company, Graves Camp to the National Register of Historic
Places.

- CD with USGS Topo maps from ArcView GIS

- CDs (5) with TIF images

- Physical signature page to the nomination

The State Review Board reviewed the nomination at its meeting on January 15, 2016. The board voted
unanimously to recommend to the State Historic Preservation Officer that the nomination met the criteria

for listing in the National Register.

We look forward to the listing of this nomination. If you have any questions, feel free to contact me at
(303) 866-4684 or at heather.peterson(@state.co.us .

Best regards,

Heather Peterson
National & State Register Historian

Enclosures as above noted

History Colorado, 1200 Broadway, Denver, CO 80203 HistoryColorado.org
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United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Registration Form

This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts. See instructions in National Register Bulletin, How
to Complete the National Register of Historic Places Registration Form. If any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for
"not applicable." For functions, architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the
instructions. Place additional certification comments, entries, and narrative items on continuation sheets if needed (NPS Form 10-900a).

1. Name of Property
historic name  WARREN LIVE STOCK COMPANY, GRAVES CAMP RURAL HISTORIC LANDSCAPE
other names/site number 5LR.11694

2. Location

street & number not for publication
gity or town WELLINGTON % vicinity

state COLORADO code CO  county LARIMER code 069 zipcode 80549

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended,

| hereby certify that this _X _nomination ___ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards
for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional
requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.

In my opinion, the property _X meets does not meet the National Register Criteria. | recommend that this property
be considered significant at the following level(s) of significance:

___statewide _X_local

[N 2

___nafional

State Historic Preservation Officer I l ‘7 16
fiying official/Title - J/ Da

Signatffe ofc

History Colorado
State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

In my opinion, the property ___ meets ___ does not meet the National Register criteria.

-Signature of commenting official Date

Title State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

4. National Park Service Certification

| hereby certify that this property is:

___entered in the National Register ___determined eligible for the National Register
___ determined not eligible for the National Register ___removed from the National Register

___other (explain:)

___Signalure of the Keeper Date of Action
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PROPERTY  Warren Livestock Company, Graves Camp Rural Historic Distric
NAME : t

MULTIPLE
NAME :

STATE & COUNTY: COLORADO, Larimer

DATE RECEIVED: 2/26/16 &p DATE OF PENDING LIST: 3/28/16
DATE OF 16TH DAY: 4/12/16 &pld DATE OF 45TH DAY: 4/12/16
DATE OF WEEKLY LIST:

REFERENCE NUMBER: 16000155

REASONS FOR REVIEW:

APPEAL: N DATA PROBLEM: N LANDSCAPE: N LESS THAN 50 YEARS: N
OTHER: N PDIL: N PERIOD: N PROGRAM UNAPPROVED: N
REQUEST: N SAMPLE: N SLR DRAFT: N NATIONAL: N

COMMENT WAIVER: N
___ACCEPT z\ﬂETURN _ REJECT DATE

ABSTRACT/SUMMARY COMMENTS:

Return:
Please see the attached
National Register Evaluation/Return Sheet
gadl for an explanation.

RECOM. /CRI 74'4 .
DISCIPLINE )' =

REVIEWER

TELEPHONERDZ- S F~22.8 2 oate ¥-r2~/L

DOCUMENTATION see attached comments Y/N see attached SLR Y/N

If a nomination is returned to the nominating authority, the
nomination is no longer under consideration by the NPS,



United States Department of the Interior

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE
1849 C Street, N.W.
Washington, DC 20240

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service
National Register of Historic Places

Comments
Evaluation/Return Sheet

Property Name: Warren Live Stock Company, Graves Camp Rural Historic Landscape
Property Location: Larimer County, Colorado
Reference Number: 16000155

Date of Return: 4-21-2016

Reason for Return

The Warren Live Stock Company/Graves Rural Historic Landscape nomination is being returned
so a more detailed explanation of the boundaries can be provided, as well as the information
described below.

Nomination Summary

The Warren Live Stock Company is a ranch located in north-central Colorado on the Wyoming
border. The short-grass prairie landscape was traditionally used for raising sheep and cattle, but
since 2004 it has been owned by the City of Fort Collins, which preserves the nearly 2-square
mile nominated parcel as a natural area (as well as a much bigger area). The ranch, which
includes a complex of buildings known as the Graves Camp, was nominated under criterion A
and D for significance in agriculture, transportation, and archeology. The period of significance
for transportation, which refers to an early road crossing the nominated property, is the 1830s to
1963 and the significance for agriculture spans 1915 to 1963. The property is significant at the
local level.

Additional Information Needs

1. Property name should be changed to “Graves Camp Rural Historic District” if this was
the historic name used by the Warren Live Stock Company. The usage of this historic
name should be clarified throughout the nomination and wherever possible clarify which
entity it is referring to, either the pre-1915 camp or the post 1915 moniker. All maps,
tables and other documentation should be updated to match this change. We understand
that other nominations for other Warren Live Stock Company properties may be authored
in the near future and this change may preempt future confusion in this case.



United States Department of the Interior 2
NPS/NRHP

Evaluation/Return Sheet

Property Name: Warren Live Stock Co/Graves Camp

Property Location: Larimer County, Colorado

Reference Number: 16000155

Date of Return: 04-21-16

2. Section 1. The nominated property should be identified and named as a “rural historic
district,” instead of a “rural historic landscape.” Please make this change throughout the
nomination.

3. Section 7, Setting and General Features. On page 3 the explanation of the inclusion of
the importance of the setting should be discussed in terms of the historical significance of
the included landscape. Please note that the National Register bulletin on rural historic
landscapes states, “Peripheral land that provides historic setting, such as forested hillsides
or rock escarpments, may be included only if the historic record indicates that the land
was historically an integral part of the property being nominated.” This discussion
continues on page 26 of the bulletin. Note that this explanation is given in response to the
general guideline in the National Register How To bulletin that explains, “The area to be
registered should be large enough to include all historic feature of the property, but
should not include ‘buffer zones’ or acreage not directly contributing to the significance
of the property” (p. 56). The history of the Graves property seems to indicate the
historical association of the “setting,” but that should be clarified on page 3.

4. Section 7, Boundary Demarcation. The boundaries should be explained here in terms of
the Graves ranch, the fuller Warren holdings, or the City of Fort Collins ownership,
depending on what has been most influential in determining the boundaries. It is useful to
understand this early in the nomination, but you can defer the entire explanation to the
boundary justification or cross reference to a fuller explanation. This section on page 5
does not indicate why the section lines used are meaningful.

5. Section 7, Resource Count (page 25). Please clarify these points:

a. The “outlying barn 5 ruins” contributing site can be consolidated with the
“fenced pastures” site of which it is a part. They are already described together
between 17 and 19.

b. The stone piles/lithic scatters are potentially outside the period of significance.
Their interpretation on page 22 contains contradictions suggesting that, “whether
it was used by ancient peoples or by historic tribes remains to be determined.” It
is later suggested that a determination has been made of its historic origin. It
should be noted that such stone features have also been interpreted in other
contexts to represent pre-Contact indigenous animal hunting drives or
ceremonial stone landscapes. Given this ambiguity, we suggest making this a
noncontributing site and to amend the nomination later if research interprets the
resource as a contributing resource to the stated period of significance. The
cultural affiliation listed on page 26 as “Native American” can be removed as a
result. The discussion of research potential of the prehistoric site given in Page
29 can be reworded or removed to another section as context.
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NPS/NRHP

Evaluation/Return Sheet

Property Name: Warren Live Stock Co/Graves Camp
Property Location: Larimer County, Colorado
Reference Number: 16000155

Date of Return: 04-21-16

Make the archaeological resources surrounding the Graves Camp complex a
contributing archeological site. Make sure to clarify that these refer to the post-
1915 Warren Live Stock era as the location of the pre-1915 site is as yet
unknown. If sources indicate that the original Graves Camp is at this location,
then this should be added to this discussion. Throughout the nomination this
should be clarified and consistent.

The stage/wagon road and ranch roads should be counted as structures if they are
indeed of substantial construction. If the wagon road is more of a demarcation in
the landscape, it seems to be a site, along with the archeological potential of trail-
related artifact deposits. These trails and their potential research value are
already discussed in the section on Criterion D, page 29.

Page 19, “Trappers Trail” is referred to in the title of the resource but not
addressed in the text. Is this the same trail as the Fort Laramie Road? Clarify.
Many of the trails and roads extend outside of the nominated parcel boundaries
into surrounding properties, some of which are included within the Soapstone
Prairie Natural Area. Briefly discuss these extensions of the resource in each
section.

The pump jack has been counted as noncontributing, but on page 23 it is stated
that the pump jacks are not included in the resource count. Please reconcile.

6. Section 8
a. Summary Paragraph. Issues with the Criterion D significance are described below;

make sure the last two sentences of the introduction are reconciled with any changes.
b. Criterion D, Archeology. The archeological interest and significance of the

original ranch headquarters is mentioned at the bottom of page 29. Here, it says
the Graves buildings were demolished and the Warrens built new ones at the same
site. In Section 7, page 5, it says that “Nothing remains of the original Graves
Ranch, and exactly where its buildings stood is unclear although they are believed
to have been located close to Graves Creek on the site of the current ranch
complex.” Please reconcile any discrepancies and clarify if the site of the Graves
Ranch is known.

Historic Context. See page 30, second paragraph. The work of the Smithsonian
and Colorado Museum of Natural History at the Lindenmeier camp may be
relevant to the nominated property, but the link seems to be speculative for this
nomination: “It is possible that evidence of their presence, and of the presence of
historic aboriginal peoples, may be found within the nominated Graves Camp site
as well.” This may contribute to the context, but it doesn’t seem to contribute to
the archeological significance at this time. The nomination should be clarified
throughout regarding the contribution of archeological resources.



United States Department of the Interior

NPS/NRHP

Evaluation/Return Sheet

Property Name:

Warren Live Stock Co/Graves Camp

Property Location: Larimer County, Colorado
Reference Number: 16000155

Date of Return:

04-21-16

7. Geographical Data and Maps

a.

b.

The maps are titled “Graves Camp Rural Historic Landscape.” This again
confuses the issue raised with the name (#1 comment, above).

In the boundary justification, please explain how sections 21 and 28 relate to the
boundaries of the Graves ranch, the broader boundaries of the Warren ranch, and
the Fort Collins natural area Otherwise, the boundaries seem arbitrary. As
mentioned above, the “untrammeled setting, landscape and viewsheds that take
the visitor back to an earlier time” need to be couched in the historical
significance and meaning of the boundaries. (Understood that the Graves
boundaries may be unclear as stated on page 38, but this may be worth
mentioning again or, in fact, may be part of the rationale.)

The Graves Camp Road mentioned on page 20 is not included by that name on
the map on page 61. Is it one of the “graded ranch roads” or the road leading to
the outlying barns and pastures?

Add a key to the different maps distinguishing the symbols for trails, wagon
roads, paved roads, etc.

Please call or send an email to either of us if you want to discuss revisions to this nomination.
Please contact Barbara for questions related to Criterion A and Mike for questions related to

Criterion D.

vk Ot)— PP —

Barbara Wyatt, Historitin Mike Roller, Archeologist
202-354-2252 202-354-2125
barbara_wyatt@nps.gov michael_roller@nps.gov

National Register of Historic Places National Register of Historic Places
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HISTORY(® ¢ . ¢ Natl. Reg. of Historic Places
Nationa Park Service

OFFICE of ARCHAEOLOGY and HISTORIC PRESERVATION

October 25, 2016

Barbara Wyatt , Historian

Mike Roller, Archeologist

National Register

Natonal Register of [ listoric Places
1201 Fye St. NW, 8th FL.
Washington [2.C. 20005

Re: Revised National Register Nomination for the Graves Camp Rural Historic District, Wellington
vicinity, Larimer County, Colorado (5L.R.11649) NRIS.16000155

Dear Ms, Wyatt and Mr. Roller:

We are pleased to resubmit for your review the revised version of the National Register of Historic
Places nomination for the above referenced property. This was revised based on your Comments in the
Livaluation/Return Sheet dated 4-21-2016.  Accordingly, please find:

CID with a PDF of the revised nomination for the Graves Camp and a copy of the
valuation/Return Sheet dated 4-21-2016. Note: The enclosed disk contains the true
and correct copy of the nomination for the Graves Camp Rural Historic District to
the National Register of Historic Places,

- CD with USGS Topo maps from ArcView GIS
CDs (4) with TIF images

- Physical signature page to the nomination

The preparer has made the revisions outlined in the Evaluation/ Return Sheet. The State Review Board
reviewed the nomination at its meeting on January 15, 2016. The board voted unanimously to
recommend to the State Historic Preservation Officer that the nomination met the criteria for listing in
the National Register.

We look forward to the listing of this nomination. If you have any questions, feel free to contact me at

(303) 866-4684 or at heather.peterson(@state.co.us .

Best regards,

O sakraon I~ .

Heather Peterson
National & State Register Historian

Fn

History Colorado, 1200 Broadway, Denver, CO 80203 HistoryColorado.org
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